THE INFLUENCE OF THE NASOLABIAL ANGLE ON PERCIEVED FACIAL AESTHETICS- A STUDY USING A 3D FACIAL IMAGE AND IMAGE MANIPULATION SOFTWARE.

By

SALWA EL-HABBASH

A thesis submitted to the University of Birmingham for the degree of

MASTERS OF SCIENCE BY RESEARCH

School of Dentistry

College of Medical and Dental Sciences

University of Birmingham

October 2022

# UNIVERSITY<sup>OF</sup> BIRMINGHAM

# **University of Birmingham Research Archive**

# e-theses repository

This unpublished thesis/dissertation is copyright of the author and/or third parties. The intellectual property rights of the author or third parties in respect of this work are as defined by The Copyright Designs and Patents Act 1988 or as modified by any successor legislation.

Any use made of information contained in this thesis/dissertation must be in accordance with that legislation and must be properly acknowledged. Further distribution or reproduction in any format is prohibited without the permission of the copyright holder.

# Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my parents and best friend for their endless support and encouragement throughout completion of my thesis.

I would like to thank Professor Khambay and Ms Sheena Kotecha for their continued support with my research project and for their guidance and assistance throughout this project.

Finally, I would like to thank all those who participated in my project through sharing their images and completing the questionnaire and allowing this project to progress through the uncertainty of Covid 19.

#### Abstract

**Objectives:** Orthodontists aims to achieve a Class I occlusion, without "harming" the facial profile. Movement of teeth and facial bones can result in changes of soft tissues including the nasolabial angle (NLA). Many studies assess the perception of the NLA using two-dimensional (2D) profile images, these may alter aesthetic judgement as three-dimensional (3D) images are closer to real-life.

**Aims:** To determine which NLA, from 70° to 110°, was rated as most attractive by laypeople and clinicians and if this was impacted by the type of image viewed i.e., 2D profile silhouettes, 3D textured and 3D grey non-textured images.

**Methodology:** Using a 3D facial image and image manipulation software, five 3D grey nontextured images were produced with NLA's of 70°, 80°, 90°, 100° and 110°. Using software from the gaming and film industry, the same male or female textured image was "wrapped" onto each of these images, producing ten further 3D images of the same individual with the five different NLA's. Five 2D profile silhouettes were generated from the 3D images resulting in 20 images which were embedded in a PowerPoint presentation. Seventy-two laypeople and fifty clinicians were recruited to rate the facial attractiveness of the images using a 7-point Likert scale.

**Results:** There was a statistically significant difference in the facial attractiveness scores across the NLA's being assessed (p=0.001) in both groups. Two-dimensional profile silhouettes underestimated the unattractiveness of 100° and 110° NLA's compared with 3D images in both groups (p<0.05).

Comparing 2D profile silhouettes and 3D grey non-textured images there was no statistical difference in attractiveness scores given by clinicians between NLA's of 70°, 80° and 90°. There was no statistical difference in attractiveness scores by laypeople for the 80° NLA, however the 3D grey non-textured images scored significantly lower than the 2D profile images with NLA's of 90°, 100° and 110° but significantly higher for the 70° NLA (p<0.05).

Overall, laypeople rated images more unattractive than clinicians, however clinicians were more likely to seek treatment. Both groups rated 3D grey non-textured images as less attractive

than 2D facial profile silhouette images with NLA's of 100° and 110° (p<0.05). Both groups preferred rating 3D textured images overall.

**Conclusion:** The null hypothesis was rejected as there was a statistically significant difference (p<0.05) in facial attractiveness rating score between clinicians and laypeople assessing the NLA's on the images and in the rating of the NLA between 2D facial profile silhouette images and 3D grey non-textured images.

# List of Figures

Figure 1. 1 Upper lip inclincation (ULI) and upper compartment (UC) of the nasolabial angle,					
which together form the nasolabial angle (NLA) TrH, true horizontl; Sn, subnasale (Naini et al.,					
2015)5					
Figure 1. 2 Four common ways of measuring the nasolabial angle (Harris, 2016)6					
Figure 3. 1 Three-dimensional (3D) "generic mesh" provided by Dimensional Imaging Ltd. The					
generic mesh was constructed from 3,800 vertices and was textureless. <b>36</b>					
Figure 3. 2 Corresponding anatomical landmarks on both the original mesh and generic					
mesh, for conformation					
Figure 3. 3 Conformed generic mesh – same shape as original facial mesh – frontal view38					
Figure 3. 4 Conformed generic mesh – same shape as original facial mesh – profile view39					
Figure 3. 5 Aligning texture to conformed generic mesh – faces & UV's identified41					
Figure 3. 6 Aligning texture to conformed generic mesh – texture transfer42					
Figure 3. 7 Final 3D image – male, textured 3D conformed mesh43					
Figure 3. 8 Creation of modifiable 2D profile using 3dMD44					
Figure 3. 9 Example 3D image – 2D profile images was adjusted to increase nose45					
Figure 3. 10 Two-dimensional (2D) facial profile silhouette with different nasolabial angles .47					
Figure 3. 11 Female 3D textured images with different nasolabial angles48					
Figure 3. 12 Male 3D textured images with different nasolabial angles					
Figure 3. 13 3D grey images with different nasolabial angles51					
Figure 4. 1 Percentage of laypeople group who would seek treatment for each of the 5					
different nasolabial angles					
Figure 4. 2 Percentage of laypeople group who would seek treatment for each of the 5					
different nasolabial angles75					

# List of Tables

**Table 1. 1** Ideals of upper lip inclination, using 2D profile silhouettes based on currentlyaccepted criteria for an idealised Caucasian male profile (Naini et al., 2015)......16

Table 4. 1 The intraclass correlation coefficients for the intra-rater reliability of clinicians and 
 Table 4. 2 Descriptive statistics for the laypeople group facial attractiveness rating assessing

 Table 4. 3 Descriptive statistics for the clinician group facial attractiveness rating assessing

 Table 4. 4 Difference in attractiveness rating assessing five different nasolabial angles using
2D facial profile silhouettes between the clinician and laypeople group following a Mann-Whitney U test ......60 
 Table 4. 5 Descriptive statistics for the laypeople group facial attractiveness rating assessing

 Table 4. 6 Descriptive statistics for the clinician group facial attractiveness rating assessing
five different nasolabial angles using 3D female textured images......63 
 Table 4. 7 Difference in attractiveness rating assessing five different nasolabial angles using
3D female textured images between the clinician and laypeople group following a Mann-Whitney U test ......64

Table 4. 8 Descriptive statistics for the laypeople group facial attractiveness rating assessing
five different nasolabial angles using 3D male textured images65
Table 4. 9 Descriptive statistics for the clinician group facial attractiveness rating assessing
five different nasolabial angles using 3D male textured images67
Table 4. 10 Difference in attractiveness rating assessing five different nasolabial angles using
3D male textured images between the clinician and laypeople group following a Mann-
Whitney U test
Table 4. 11 Descriptive statistics showing the effect of using 2D facial profile silhouettes or 3D
non-textured grey images on facial attractiveness rating70
Table 4. 12 Percentage of laypeople that would seek treatment for each nasolabial angle and
the viewing media on which the decision was based72
Table 4. 13 Preference of clinicians and laypeople viewing 2D facial profile silhouettes,
combined 3D female and 3D male textures images, and 3D grey non-textured images77

# Table of Contents

Acknow	LEDGEMENTS	III
ABSTRAC	Γ	IV
LIST OF F	GURES	VI
LIST OF T	ABLES	VI
		1
CHAPIER		····· 1
LITERATUR	E REVIEW	1
11		2
1.2	ΑΝΑΤΟΜΥ ΟΕ ΤΗΕ ΝΑSOLABIAL COMPLEX	
13	DETERMINANTS OF FACIAL ATTRACTIVENESS	7
14	NASOLABIAL ANGLE AND FACIAL ATTRACTIVENESS	8
1.5	EFFECTS OF ORTHODONTICS AND ORTHOGNATHIC SURGERY ON THE NASOLABIAL COMPLEX	
1.5.1	Orthognathic surgery	
152	Orthodontic treatment	13
1.6	AFSTHETIC PERCEPTION OF THE NASOLABIAL ANGLE	
17	NASOLABIAL ANGLE AND GENDER	
1.8	NASOLABIAL ANGLE AND CENTERING	
19		18
191	likert-type scale	19
192	Visual Analogues Scale (VAS)	
1 10	VISUALY INTROGUES SEARCE (VIS)	21
1 11	RATERS IN PERCEPTION OF AFSTHETIC STUDIES	23
1 1 2	SUMMARY	
1.12		
CHAPTER 2		27
AIMS AND	NULL HYPOTHESIS	27
2.4	D	20
2.1		
2.1.1	Primary outcome measure	28
2.1.2	Null nypotnesis	
2.2	SECONDARY AIMS	
2.2.1	Secondary null hypothesis	28
CHAPTER 3		29
		20
	5 & METHOD3	
3.1	Study Design	30
3.2	ETHICAL APPROVAL	30
3.3	SAMPLE SIZE CALCULATION	30
3.4	RATER RECRUITMENT	30
3.4.1	Clinician group	31
3.4.2	Laypeople group	31
3.5	QUESTIONNAIRES	32
3.5.1	Rating sheet	32
3.6	THREE-DIMENSIONAL IMAGE GENERATION	32
3.6.1	Di4DSNAP imaging system	32
3.6.2	System calibration	33
3.6.3	Subject capture	33
3.7	CREATION OF VISUAL STIMULI	34
3.7.1	Generation of a symmetrical 3D face with anatomical correct features (grey image)	without any
phot	orealistic texture	35
3.7.2	Creation of a conformed generic mesh with addition of texture	35
3.7.3	Modification of nasolabial angle	40
3.7.4	Addition of texture to modified 3D facial image – male and female	40
3.8	PREPARATION OF IMAGES FOR RATING	50
3.8.1	Image rating	50

3.9	STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	52
CHAPTER	4	54
RESULTS		54
4.1	INTRARATER RELIABILITY	55
4.2	EFFECT OF NASOLABIAL ANGLE ON FACIAL ATTRACTIVENESS RATING BASED ON THE DIFFERENT IMAGE TYPES	55
4.2.1	1 Two-dimension (2D) facial profile silhouettes	55
4.2.2	2 Three-dimensional (3D) female textured images	
4.2.3	3 Three-dimensional (3D) male textured images	62
4.3	COMPARISON USING 2D FACIAL PROFILE SILHOUETTES AND 3D NON-TEXTURED GREY IMAGES ON FACIAL	
ATTRACT	IVENESS RATING	66
4.3.	1 Clinician group	66
4.3.2	2 Laypeople group	69
4.4	NASOLABIAL ANGLE AND SEEKING TREATMENT	71
4.4.	1 Clinician group	71
4.4.2	2 Laypeople group	74
4.5	RATERS PREFERENCE FOR IMAGE RATING	76
CHAPTER	5	78
		70
DISCUSSIC	JN	/8
5.1 T	HE SIGNIFICANCE OF THE NASOLABIAL ANGLE IN ORTHODONTIC TREATMENT	79
5.2	PERCEPTION OF NASOLABIAL AESTHETICS BASED ON 2D PROFILE SILHOUETTE AND 3D TEXTURED IMAGES	80
5.3 F	EPEATABILITY, RELIABILITY AND REPRODUCIBILITY	86
5.4 L	IMITATION OF THE LIKERT SCALE	87
5.5 S	AMPLE SIZE CALCULATION	88
5.6 F	ATERS	89
5.7	RATING 2D SILHOUETTE IMAGES AND 3D GREY NON-TEXTURED IMAGES	90
5.8 V	VILLINGNESS TO SEEK TREATMENT REGARDING THE NASOLABIAL ANGLE	91
5.9 E	FFECT OF RATER GENDER ON OUTCOME	92
5.10	RATERS PREFERENCE FOR IMAGE RATING	93
5.11	LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY	93
CHAPTER	6	95
CONCLUS	IONS	95
CONCLU	SIGNS	96
CHAPTER	7	
KEFERENC		98
7.1	REFERENCES	99
CHAPTER	8	115
APPENDIC	ΈS	115
Append	IX I	116
Append	II	120

# CHAPTER 1

# LITERATURE REVIEW

## 1.1 Introduction

Orthodontic treatment planning was initially based on the goal of long-term dental stability following treatment (Mills, 1968; Felton et al., 1987). This involved maintaining key dental pretreatment parameters including the lower labial segment inclination, inter-molar, and intercanine widths (Horowitz and Hixon, 1969). The dental objective of achieving a Class I incisor relationship would often be achieved without taking into consideration the overlying soft tissue effects resulting from treatment. This was particularly evident during overjet reduction in Class II mandibular retrusion cases. The more routine use of orthognathic surgery meant it was not only possible to move teeth, but also the underlying skeletal bone (Seo and Choi, 2021). Movement of both teeth and skeletal bone has the potential of causing a marked effect of the overlying facial soft tissue. More recently orthodontists are becoming more aware for the need to balance the desire to achieve an ideal Class I occlusion, without "harming" the facial profile but also working within the bounds of biological constraints (Seo and Choi, 2021). The nasolabial soft tissues play a key role in facial aesthetics and can have a large influence on a patient's appearance and profile emphasising the importance of soft tissue assessment prior to planning treatment (Schendel and Carlotti, 1991).

The nasolabial complex (NLC) anatomy is a compound with a many of muscles, nerves, and soft tissue structures. The position of these structures is influenced by tooth position during orthodontic treatment and bony movement with orthognathic surgery. This can have an impact on the position and appearance of the upper lip and nasolabial angle, as well as the nasal dorsum tip and alar base width (Schendel and Carlotti, 1991).

## 1.2 Anatomy of the nasolabial complex

The nasolabial complex (NLC) consists of the structures making up the nose and those of the upper lip. The nasolabial angle (NLA) is derived from two independent lines that arise from structures of the NLC (Freitas et al., 2014). The NLA provides a good representation of the anteroposterior position of the maxilla and can aid in differential diagnosis of dental or skeletal malocclusions (Elias, 1980). Nasal anatomy comprises skeletal, cartilaginous, muscular, and fascial components. The alar cartilages also known as the lower lateral cartilages, provide the shape and support for the tip and lobule of the nose. The alar cartilages consist of two parts; medial and lateral crus which fuse at the dome of the alar cartilage, which is also the highest point of the nose. The alar cartilages extent of separation governs the width of the nasal tip and the span of the domes (Schendel and Carlotti, 1991).

The major muscles of the NLC are closely linked and include the nasalis (transverse and alar components), dilator naris, depressor septi naris, levator labii superioris alaeque nasi, levator labii superioris, levator anguli oris, orbicularis oris and the zygomaticus major and minor (Schendel and Carlotti, 1991). The nasalis muscle originates in the midline of the dorsum of the nose and sweeps across the upper lateral cartilages and combines with fibres of the musculi levator labii muscle. These run downwards with some fibres inserting into the orbicularis oris muscle of the lip and others inserting along the piriform rim extending to the anterior nasal spine. This determines the shape of the lateral alar aspect and transverse width of the nose. Fibers of the zygomatic muscles retract laterally or superolaterally and play a key role in surgical cases and can result in widening of the alar base if not handled with care. The orbicularis oris muscle has oblique and transverse fibers. The oblique portion run obliquely upward and inserts close to the piriform rim and anterior nasal spine, whilst the transverse fibers run horizontally

across the upper lip (Schendel and Carlotti, 1991; Schendel and DeLaire, 1985). Malformations in this region, as seen in cleft lip and palate patients, can result in alterations in the shape of the NLC, with one of the main aims of surgical intervention and orthodontic treatment to improve the nasolabial and facial aesthetics (Paiva and Andre, 2012).

The nasolabial angle, which is dependent on the inclination of the nasal columella and the upper lip, is formed by drawing a line tangent to the nasal columella and a line tangent to the upper lip, which both intersect at subnasale (Naini et al., 2015), Figure 1.1. The nasolabial angle however can be further subdivided into the upper and lower compartments using a true horizontal line through subnasale, with the patient in natural head position. This creates the upper compartment (UC) angle which is formed between the line tangent to columella and the true horizontal plane and the lower compartment angle or upper lip inclination (ULI), formed using the upper lip tangent line and the true horizontal plane (Naini et al., 2015), Figure 1.1. Although this method is mostly used to determine the NLA, four different alternative methods have been described to measure the NLA (Harris, 2016), Figure 1.2.



**Figure 1. 1** Upper lip inclincation (ULI) and upper compartment (UC) of the nasolabial angle, which together form the nasolabial angle (NLA) TrH, true horizontl; Sn, subnasale (Naini et al., 2015).



Four common ways of measuring the nasolabial angle found in rhinoplasty literature 1 that were used in our survey: a, angle between columella and line intersecting subnasale and labrale superius 1; B, angle between columella and line tangent to cutaneous upper lip proper 2; C, angle between long axis of nostril and line perpendicular to Frankfort horizontal 3; and D, angle between long axis of nostril and line intersecting glabella and pogonion. 4 adapted with permission from leach J. aesthetics and the Hispanic rhinoplasty. Laryngoscope. 2002;112:1903–1916. adaptations are themselves works protected by copyright. So in order to publish this adaptation, authorization must be obtained both from the owner of the copyright in the original work and from the owner of copyright in the translation or adaptation.

Figure 1. 2 Four common ways of measuring the nasolabial angle (Harris, 2016).

### 1.3 Determinants of facial attractiveness

Facial attractiveness has been well documented to influence critical social outcomes, from social exchanges to hiring prospects, with physically attractive individuals being perceived to hold more positive personality attributes (Little et al., 2011; Langlois at al., 2000). It has been accepted that facial appearance can strongly affect self-esteem (Hershon and Giddon, 1980). Cultural differences can have an impact on the perception of facial attractiveness, however cross-cultural studies suggest universal commonalities in the features of attractive faces (Little et al., 2011). Features of facial attractiveness that have been universally established include facial symmetry, averageness or how strongly a face resembles the mainstream faces within a given population. In addition, secondary sexual characteristics of the face, such as the shape and cheek / jaw bones, sexual dimorphism, skin health and uniformity in colour have all been associated with facial attractiveness (Little et al., 2011; Heppt and Vent, 2015).

Static facial characteristics are well known to contribute to facial attractiveness i.e., positive facial expressions (Little et al., 2011; Heppt and Vent, 2015). The eyes and appearance of the teeth have also been shown to be key contributors for facial aesthetics, with people who smile more being considered more trustworthy (Krishnan et al., 2008). The psychological effects of seeing an attractive face should not be underestimated. It has been previously reported that viewing an attractive face can activate the medial orbito cortex, a region of the brain known to be involved in representing stimulus-reward value. In other words, seeing an attractive face can activate the medial orbito cortex to pleasant music or monetary gain (O'Doherty et al., 2003).

As well as subjective assessment, objective measurements, based on facial profile photographic analysis, has shown an association between various facial profile anthropometric measurements and skeletal pattern classifications with perceived facial aesthetics (Reis et al., 2011). Class I skeletal patterns have been linked with the highest level of aesthetics compared with Class III skeletal patterns which were perceived as least attractive; suggesting the sagittal position of the mandible influences facial profile aesthetics (Dongieux and Sassouni, 1980). The convexity of facial profile angle, which is measured between soft tissue glabella, subnasale and pogonion, has been shown to be associated with facial profile attractiveness. Increased or decreased convexity of the face, often seen in Class II and Class III skeletal profiles respectively, tend to be deemed less attractive compared with a balanced Class I profile (Reis et al., 2011). Given that orthodontics is normally undertaken as an adolescent it is important to consider the age-related facial changes which are known to occur. Even though the majority of facial maturing and change occurs by the age of 18 years, with only minor changes developing throughout the rest of life. With age progression the nose and chin increase in prominence and the lips become thinner, leading to a more concave or retrusive profile, which is less aesthetically pleasing (Nanda et al., 1990).

# 1.4 Nasolabial angle and facial attractiveness

The nasolabial complex is the central aesthetic unit of the face. The nasolabial angle is reliant on the anteroposterior position or inclination of the upper anterior teeth, the anteroposterior position of the maxilla and the inclination of the nasal columella (Anicÿ-Miloševicÿ et al., 2008). Anecdotal evidence for normal or ideal nasolabial angles based on the perception of surgeons, have been widely accepted and have been described to be between 90° -120° (Powell and

Humphreys, 1984). Anthropometric studies of Caucasians adults have suggested that average values of nasolabial angle are 100° ± 12° in males and 104° ± 10° in females (Farkas, 1994). It must however be noted that the perception of laypeople compared with clinicians has not historically always agreed; as laypeople are more forgiving when perceiving facial aesthetics (Kerr and O'Donnell, 1990; Cochrane et al., 1999). Studies assessing smile aesthetics in terms of missing teeth and spacing have shown orthodontists to be the most critical cohort when rating images, followed by orthodontic patients (Kokich et al., 2006; Machado et al., 2013; Rosa et al., 2013). However, some more recent studies have found agreement between clinicians and laypeople when considering facial aesthetics (Maple at al., 2005; Sari-Rieger and Rustemeyer, 2015).

Naini et al. (2015) assessed the aesthetic impact of the upper lip inclination, which is the lower component of the nasolabial angle, on facial aesthetics (Naini et al., 2015). The upper lip inclination / lower component of the nasolabial angle was utilised as it measured the nasolabial angle independent of the nose (Naini et al., 2015). The upper lip inclination is dependent on the position of the upper incisors, the position of the maxilla, the thickness and tonicity of the upper lip (thicker, flaccid lips will alter to a lesser extent), and the size of the space between the anterior dentoalveolus and the inner surface of the upper lip.

The relationship between the upper lip and nasal columella inclination is important in establishing a clinical diagnosis and key for planning treatment. The upper lip inclination is dependent on both the sagittal position of the anterior maxilla as well as the inclination of the maxillary incisors (Naini et al., 2015). Movement of the maxillary teeth alone will solely influence the lower compartment of the nasolabial angle, whereas maxillary advancement or

impaction will likely affect both the lower component of the nasolabial angle and the upper component related to the nasal columella inclination. Therefore, often following orthodontic and orthognathic procedures that may affect the upper component of the nasolabial angle, cosmetic rhinoplasty procedures may be indicated (Naini et al., 2015). With orthognathic surgery both upper and lower compartments of the nasolabial angle will be affected to differing levels, whereas with orthodontic treatment alone, the upper lip inclination alone is more likely to change (Naini et al., 2015).

# 1.5 Effects of orthodontics and orthognathic surgery on the nasolabial complex

Changes in dental and skeletal maxillary position will occur following orthodontic and/or orthognathic treatment. These changes will be observed in the surrounding soft tissue of the nasolabial complex region. This can be attributed to orthodontic extraction, retraction or proclination of the upper incisors, use of headgear or temporary anchorage devises or orthognathic surgery. Some suggest that orthodontic treatment planning should be directed by the soft tissues to achieve the best results (Sarver, 2001).

# 1.5.1 Orthognathic surgery

During Le Fort I orthognathic surgery NLA changes are governed by the amount of decompensation of the maxillary incisors, the type of maxillary surgery undertaken, as well as the direction and scale of movement during maxillary surgery (Naini et al., 2015). Several techniques including the use of cinch sutures and VY closures also have a role in determining the nasolabial angle and are usually used to control the negative or less desirable changes that may occur during orthognathic surgery (Naini et al., 2015).

Without intervention, a Le Fort I osteotomy can produce several undesirable nasal and labial soft tissue changes. There tends to classically ensue a widening of the alar base of the nose with an accompanying flattening and thinning of the upper lip with a noticeable loss of the visible vermilion border (Mansour et al., 1983). Upward nasal tip rotation with amplification of the supratip break and reduction of the dorsal hump can also accompany maxillary advancements (Khamashta-Ldezma et al., 2017). One study showed that maxillary advancement with impaction resulted in the nasal tip being positioned more superiorly or upturning in 85% of cases, which may have the undesired effect of increased nostril show (Dantas et al., 2015). It has been speculated that this upturning of the nose is a result of ventral pressure of the maxillary bone on the lateral crurae (Khamashta-Ldezma et al., 2017). Some of these changes including changes in the nasal tip structure and dorsum may be avoided during maxillary surgery. However, this is dependent on the direction of skeletal movement, the management of soft tissues intra operatively and the thickness of the skin in the region. The changes that may occur are attributable to modifications in the local anatomy associated with the nasolabial complex during surgical repositioning (O'Ryan and Schendel, 1989; O'Ryan et al., 1989).

Widening of the alar base of the nose is not solely dependent on the amount of skeletal movement during maxillary osteotomy. More importantly is the amount of subperiosteal dissection and elevation achieved during surgery, which frequently involves the full face of the maxilla. The subperiosteal dissection disconnects the facial muscles from the nasolabial complex and the anterior nasal spine. The muscles then become unrestricted in their ability to retract laterally, as muscles routinely shorten when elevated. As a result of the surgical intervention lateral retraction of the muscles can occur which results in flaring, widening, and

elevation of the base of the nose. As a sequalae to this, there is also thinning of the upper lip with lateral movement of the tissues and the loss of vermilion show because of a rolling in of the upper lip (Mansour et al., 1983). These changes result in increasing the upper and lower component of the nasolabial angle.

Following orthognathic surgery involving maxillary impaction or advancement there is a tendency for the nasal tip to elevate, which increases the upper component of the nasolabial angle. Humping of the nose can appear to reduce due to elevation of the nasal tip and base (Freihofer, 1977). However, changes after maxillary impaction or advancement can rotate the base of the nose superiorly making the nostrils more visible in frontal view, which is considered unaesthetic (Freihofer, 1977). Retraction of the anterior maxilla as a segmental procedure, also often results in widening of the alar base with a resultant susceptibility of the nasal tip to rotate downward and back and therefore increasing the nasolabial angle, which again can have an unaesthetic impact on the face in both frontal and profile views (Schendel and Carlotti, 1991).

Management of soft tissue components is imperative with any maxillary osteotomy by repositioning of the musculofascial constituents to their natural points of insertion. Several techniques including the use of cinch sutures and V-Y closures can play a role in determining the nasolabial angle and are usually used to control the negative or less desirable changes that may occur during orthognathic surgery (Schendel and DeLaire, 1985; Naini et al., 2015). One prospective review found that combing the V-Y and cinch sutures limited the changes in the nasal tip in the vertical dimension (Muradin et al., 2011). Studies have shown that the transverse width of the nose can be maintained close to its preoperative width, if desired, or

allowed to expand slightly using the above techniques (Schendel and Carlotti, 1991; Muradin et al., 2011).

## 1.5.2 Orthodontic treatment

Orthodontic treatment with or without dental extractions can result in soft tissue profile changes (Stromboni, 1979; Finnoy et al., 1987). Burstone (1964) reported that lay people were likely to perceive facial balance in terms of the nasolabial angle (Burstone, 1964). There is however a lack of consensus in the literature as to whether orthodontic treatment with extractions results in poorer soft tissue aesthetics then if no extractions were undertaken. It is suggested that when accurate diagnosis and treatment planning takes place with the intention to resolve tooth size discrepancy there should not be a significant change in the post treatment facial profile (Freitas et al., 2019).

Premolar extractions have been reported to result in flattening of the facial profile, which may have a negative impact on facial aesthetics and is caused by retrusion of the upper and lower lips (Kocadereli, 2001). Conversely, other studies have reported that premolar extractions have no influence on the facial profile (Kirschneck et al., 2016). A study comparing soft tissue facial profiles of individuals undergoing orthodontic treatment with or without extractions found no significant differences in the nasolabial angle between the two groups (Freitas et al., 2019). The results of a systematic review based on a single clinical trial (26 participants) and 5 observational cohort studies (362 participants in total) also found no significant differences between the groups in terms of the aesthetic outcomes (lared et al., 2017).

A high correlation between upper incisor retraction and nasolabial angle changes has been previously reported (Lo and Hunter, 1982). The study, based on a group of 9 to 16-year-olds

with Class II division 1 malocclusions, found that the nasolabial angle increased by 1.63° on average for every one millimetre of upper incisor retraction as a result of orthodontic treatment. This was a linear correlation and was consistent in subjects who had minimal incisal retraction and those who had increased incisal retraction. The study also reported that approximately 90% of changes in the nasolabial angle where due to changes in the lower component or upper lip inclination, with the remaining 10% being related to the change in the inclination of the nasal columella. This increase in inclination of the nasal columella was thought to be attributable to the movement of the lip towards the retracted incisors creating a tension or pull on subnasale in a downward and forward direction which causes the inclination of the lower border of the nose to increase (Lo and Hunter, 1982).

Studies have documented an association between the thickness of the upper lip and upper incisor retraction. Changes in the thickness of the upper lip can affect the nasolabial angle. Some studies have found there to be no correlation between the amount of upper incisor retraction and the thickness of the upper lip (Lo and Hunter, 1982). Contrary to these, other studies have reported that upper lip thickness increases as a result of upper incisor retraction (Ricketts, 1968). This is believed to be related to the relaxation of the lip when its posture is changed. Thicker lips react less to movement of the incisors and therefor provide more support to the lip morphology compared with thinner lips (Guan et al., 2019).

# 1.6 Aesthetic perception of the nasolabial angle

Normative values of nasolabial angle are utilised in orthodontics and surgery to help devise appropriate treatment plans based on the guide of averageness in facial aesthetics. The nasolabial angle also helps to establish if deviations in the range are due to an anteroposterior discrepancy in maxillary position, inclination of the maxillary incisors, morphology, or thickness of the overlying soft tissues of the upper lip, or any combination of the aforementioned. This information is key in establishing the type of treatment required and making a decision whether orthodontics or orthognathic surgery may be required (Naini et al., 2015). The nasolabial angle norms within a group of people are specific for age, gender, and ethnicity (Naini et al., 2015).

Naini et al. (2015) demonstrated ideals of upper lip inclination, using 2D profile silhouettes based on currently accepted criteria for an idealised Caucasian male profile, in three group of observers including lay people, orthognathic patients and orthognathic and maxillofacial surgeons, Table 1.1. Further observation within this same study showed that silhouettes with a range between 67° and 94° was perceived as slightly unattractive, with any values outside of this range being deemed very unattractive (Naini et al., 2015).

In a study assessing facial perception of post orthognathic surgery Class II patients using threedimensional pre- and post-surgery images, laypeople awarded statistically significantly higher mean attractiveness scores then orthodontists or surgeons (Storms et al., 2017). However, laypeople perceived the least improvement post-surgery when compared to the clinicians, as well as showing lower inter and intra-observer variability. This was suggested to be due to the inexperience of laypeople or to the lack of ability to critically evaluate a face objectively without considering variables such as skin tone, texture, eyes, and the shape of the nose (Storms et al., 2017).

A recent systematic review has reported that the aesthetic perception of the nasolabial angle for females has changed over time and that the perception is relative to the gender of the rater,

Table 1.1 Ideals of upper lip inclination, using 2D profile silhouettes based on currently accepted criteria for an idealised Caucasian male profile (Naini et al., 2015).

Upper lip inclination	Perception of attractiveness
79-85°	Ideal
73-88°	Acceptable
67-94°	Unattractive

their ethnicity and age. It is also thought to be influenced by social media (Mohammadi et al., 2021). Although this systematic review did not identify an exact trend in the changes in aesthetic perception of the nasolabial angle in females, it indicated that currently sharper angles and fuller lips are perceived more attractive for females. This ideal of fuller lips with more acute nasolabial angles in the modern age and the era of social media has been further confirmed in studies looking at determining if modern day social media models fit the cephalometric norms for historical standards of beauty (Eggerstedt et al., 2020). The cross-sectional study found that the nasolabial angle varied with historical studies being up to 40° more acute than previous studies. The more acute nasolabial angle would be the result of fuller lips.

# 1.7 Nasolabial angle and gender

Bergman (1999) suggested that the nasolabial angle should always be  $102^{\circ} \pm 8^{\circ}$  regardless of what intervention is carried out and signified the importance of assessing the position of the upper lip prior to any treatment interventions (Bergman, 1999). In studies of Caucasian patients of Class I dental occlusions with good soft tissue facial profile, the nasolabial angle has been shown to be one of the most variable angular profile measurements between the genders with the mean value for males being  $105.4^{\circ} \pm 9.5^{\circ}$  and for females  $109^{\circ} \pm 7.8^{\circ}$  (Anicÿ-Miloševicÿ et al., 2008). However, it must be emphasised that a good occlusion does not always indicate good facial balance; in addition, age, gender, and ethnicity can affect the normative values (Bergman, 1999; Naini et al., 2015). The ranges of nasolabial angle documented in the literature as normative values are variable, however the majority for both genders tend to fall within  $90^{\circ} - 115^{\circ}$ , with the larger figures being more representative of the female values (Guyuron, 1993; Orten and Hilger, 2002). A study investigating the ideal nasolabial angle in male and female

subjects of a Caucasian background using 2D profile images found that there was a much closer range of nasolabial angles between males and females then had been previously reported. The ideal for males was 93.4° to 98.5° and for females was 95.5° to 100.1° (Armijo et al., 2012). This study was based on 10 male and 10 female modified images viewed by sixteen raters, including plastic surgery attending staff, residents, and office staff.

# 1.8 Nasolabial angle and ethnicity

A systematic review and meta-analysis, based on 38 studies, reporting 11 angular and 18 linear facial photogrammetric measurements revealed differences in the nasolabial angles between male and female subjects from different ethnic backgrounds including African, Asian and Caucasians (Weng et al., 2015). In the male categories, African males had the smallest mean nasolabial angle of 87.5° (95% confidence intervals 76.6° - 98.5°), followed by Asian males at 94.7° (95% confidence intervals 88.5° - 100.6°) and Caucasian males had the highest mean nasolabial angle of 100.1° (95% confidence intervals 94° - 105.8°). The female results were similar to the males, with African females having a mean nasolabial angle of 85.8° (95% confidence intervals 69.5° - 101.0°), Asian females of 94.2° (95% confidence intervals 88.8° - 99.8°) and Caucasian females having the highest mean value of 103.3° (95% confidence intervals 96.9° - 109.3°). Furthermore, more recent studies indicate that perception of the nasolabial angle is based on ethnic background, with more acute angles being considered more aesthetic or acceptable in African populations compared with Caucasian and Asian populations (Mohammadi et al., 2021).

### 1.9 Measuring aesthetic perception

### 1.9.1 Likert-type scale

Psychologists have historically agreed and accepted the Likert-type scale is a useful and popular method for measuring the perception of attractiveness (Langlois at al., 2000). These scales typically have three or more response categories to choose from (Sung and Wu, 2018). However, Likert-type scales have been associated with several disadvantages, including production of ordinal measurement values and response styles, such as participants tending towards choosing either neutral or middle category responses or opting for responses that lie at the extremities of the scale (Allen and Seaman, 2007; Albaum et al., 1997). These types of responses can result in bias and can result in the participants true thoughts not being communicated (Sung and Wu, 2018).

Likert-type scales are an ordinal level measure and do not have an interval level measure. Therefore, the response sets have a ranking order but the interval between the values must not be presumed to be equal (Jamieson, 2004). This can lead to errors in statistical analysis of the data. It has also been suggested that using too few categories for responding in the Likerttype scale will impede the participant's ability to accurately convey their feelings and therefore reduces reliability of the study (Viswanathan et al., 1996).

## 1.9.2 Visual Analogues Scale (VAS)

The visual analogues scale (VAS) was developed to overcome some of the deficiencies observed in the Likert-type scale. The VAS can be used as an aesthetic perception measurement tool and was found to be used more frequently than Likert-type scales in studies (Parrini et al., in 2016). It is thought to be the 'gold standard' of assessing perception of feelings, which are quite difficult to quantify as a figure due to their complexity (Cline et al., 1992; Lombardi, 1973). The VAS captures more variability and uses a continuous line rather than several categories as seen in Likert-type scales (Sung and Wu, 2018). It has been suggested that giving participants' the opportunity to place their responses anywhere on a continuous line frees the VAS from the issues of determining the number of response categories, as well as producing continuous and interval level data (Reips and Frunke, 2008). The VAS can have a midpoint which has been found to be statistically insignificant in affecting differences between the rating; although average scores tend to be lower on a VAS without a midpoint (Couper, 2006). VAS marked only at both terminuses without a midpoint is considered more sensitive than those with a midpoint (Joyce et al., 1975). The 'central bias tendency' is an outcome that is observed when a VAS has a midpoint with a high proportion of participants rating on the midpoint (Couper, 2006; Millar et al., 1995). Subjects rating on the VAS take longer to complete the scale when a midpoint was not present, suggesting that when a midpoint is present it simplifies the understanding of the scale (Couper, 2006). For these reasons it has been proposed that training on the use of the VAS is provided to participants in depth prior to completing the scale in order to ensure valid results (Wewers and Lowe, 1990). Numeric scales on a VAS have been the subject of criticism as they are thought to influence ratings with larger numbers on the scale implying more positive results which can affect the reliability of the results (Couper, 2006; Schwarz et al, 1991; Scott and Huskisson, 1977).

However, it has been found that the most preferred, accepted, and beneficial methods of rating perception of attractiveness by psychologists in research is the Likert-type scale (Langlois et al., 2000). Recent studies in assessing facial profile attractiveness have used the 7-point Likert rating scale in order to rate the attractiveness of their 2D silhouette images with the extremities

of their scales being indicated by 'extremely unattractive' to 'extremely attractive' (Naini et al., 2015; Naini et al., 2012).

## 1.10 Viewing of two-dimensional (2D) and three-dimensional (3D) images

Previous studies have utilised profile photographs and silhouette to evaluate perception of facial aesthetics (Todd et al., 2005; Naini et al., 2015; Naini et al., 2012). Given the technology of the day, two-dimensional (2D) profile images were routinely used to represent the face. With technological development it is now possible to capture the 3D shape of the face together with photorealistic texture which have been utilised for the assessment of facial attractiveness and perception studies (Todd et al., 2005; Storms et al., 2017).

Conventional photographs fail to capture the three-dimensional facial depth and shape and are susceptible to magnification and distortion (Sarver, 2001; Da Silveira et al., 2003). Three-dimensional soft tissue imaging enables the depiction of the facial surface in three dimensions, addressing the limitations of two-dimensional imaging (Souccar and Kau, 2012). It is also thought that possible bias linked with a single 2D image can be reduced by using 3D images, which allow representation of various angles of the image (Trebicky et al., 2018).

The most widely used 3D soft tissue capture systems are stereophotogrammetry and laser scanners (Rasteau et al., 2020; Awarun et al., 2019). These systems are non-invasive and do not irradiate the subjects. They operate by using multiple cameras to capture the image of an illuminated object (Hennessey et al., 2005; Hennessey et al., 2006). Increased numbers of treatment centres such as cleft centres have utilised 3D imaging methods for treatment planning and outcome evaluation using these 3D image capture systems (Awarun et al., 2019).

These imaging techniques yield accurate and reproducible images which are valuable tools for research and documentation (Stebel et al., 2016). However, many studies have been unclear regarding the benefit of evaluation of aesthetic outcome utilising 2D or 3D imaging techniques (Stebel et al., 2016). One study demonstrated that 2D and 3D images were comparable for evaluating some regions of the face such as the nose and midface, however there was poor correlation during assessment of the upper lip which is significant when assessing the nasolabial complex in a patient with cleft lip and palate (Al-Omari et al., 2003). Another study by Zhu et al. (2017) compared the reliability of using 2D versus 3D images and stereoscopic 3D projections for patient assessment and rating. They found that using stereoscopic 3D projection was patients preferred method for rating (Zhu et al., 2017). This study also found that intra-rater reliability was dependent on both the viewing medium as well as which facial feature was being analysed.

The use of 3D images over 2D images has been associated with higher intra-rater reproducibility (Stebel et al., 2016). The study also noted that the rating panel found the 3D images to be more informative regarding the nasolabial appearance when compared with the 2D images. They also however showed a tendency that 2D images were easier to use for aesthetic evaluation compared with 3D images but concluded that overall 3D images are favoured to 2D images for rating nasolabial appearance (Stebel et al., 2016).

### 1.11 Raters in perception of aesthetic studies

Research of aesthetic perception of the nasolabial angle tends to use similar cohorts of subjects to rate their images. Professional groups such as orthodontists and maxillofacial surgeons tend to be selected and these are usually compared with a lay person group of varying ages (Naini et al., 2012; Naini et al., 2015; Todd et al., 2005; Zhu et al., 2017). The lay person group can sometimes be subdivided into the general public and those who are undergoing orthodontics and ready for orthognathic surgery (Naini et al., 2015)

The age categories of these individuals can vary, with the majority of studies recruiting individuals aged eighteen or above, without a history of severe psychological problems such as body dysmorphia and no history of facial deformity (Naini et al., 2015; Droubi et al., 2020). These groups of raters are commonly impacted by orthodontic, orthognathic or a combination treatment, through seeking orthognathic treatment in the second and third decade of life or through planning for treatment of patients as an orthodontic professional (Breacher et al., 2019). However, studies have shown that there is minimal difference in the perception of facial aesthetics between varying age groups, and therefore having a range of ages may not be necessary (Salehi et al., 2019).

When comparing male and female rater outcomes for assessing facial aesthetics, historically studies have found no association between gender and rating outcome (Tedesco et al., 1983b). This finding has been confirmed in more recent studies using both 2D and 3D images (Todd et al., 2005).

### 1.12 Summary

Movement of the teeth and facial bones during orthodontics and orthognathic surgery can result in changes of the overlying facial soft tissue. Modern orthodontics has placed emphasis on the need to balance the desire to achieve an ideal Class I occlusion, without "harming" the facial profile. The nasolabial soft tissues play a key role in facial aesthetics and can have a large influence on a patient's appearance and profile, emphasising the importance of soft tissue assessment prior to planning treatment. The nasolabial angle, which is dependent on the inclination of the nasal columella and the upper lip, is formed by drawing a line tangent to the nasal columella and a line tangent to the upper lip, which both intersect at subnasale.

Features of facial attractiveness that have been universally established include facial symmetry, averageness or how strongly a face resembles the mainstream faces within a given population. It has also been linked to a class I skeletal pattern and angle of convexity of the face which falls under a skeletal I profile appearance. This is influenced by the position of subnasale which plays a role in the nasolabial angle. Anecdotal evidence for normal or ideal nasolabial angles based on the perception of surgeons, have been widely accepted and have been described to be between 90°-120°. This however is affected by gender and ethnicity amongst other factors. The research is variable however, it has been suggested that the ideal nasolabial angle for males is 93.4° to 98.5° and the ideal for females is 95.5° to 100.1°. Furthermore, perception of the nasolabial angle is based on ethnic background, with more acute angles being considered more aesthetic or acceptable in African populations compared with Caucasian and Asian populations.

Changes in dental and skeletal maxillary position will occur following orthodontic and/or orthognathic treatment. These changes will be observed in the surrounding soft tissue of the

nasolabial complex region. This can be attributed to orthodontic extraction, retraction or proclination of the upper incisors, use of headgear or temporary anchorage devices or orthognathic surgery. Studies have found that with orthodontic tooth movement the NLA can increase by 1.63° on average for every one millimetre of upper incisor retraction. Similarly, maxillary advancement with impaction may result in the nasal tip being positioned more superiorly or upturning, in up to 85% of cases, which may have the undesired effect of increased nostril show and increased nasolabial angle.

Psychologists have historically agreed and accepted the Likert-type scale is a useful and popular method for measuring the perception of attractiveness. However, using too few categories for responses on the Likert-type scale can impede a participant's ability to accurately convey their feelings and therefore reduces reliability of the study. Recent studies in assessing facial profile attractiveness have used the 7-point Likert rating scale in order to rate the attractiveness of their 2D silhouette images with the extremities of their scales being indicated by 'extremely unattractive' to 'extremely attractive'. Previous studies have utilised profile photographs and silhouette to evaluate perception of facial aesthetics. Conventional photographs fail to capture the three-dimensional facial depth and shape and are susceptible to magnification and distortion. Three-dimensional soft tissue imaging enables the depiction of the facial surface in three dimensions, addressing the limitations of two-dimensional imaging. It is also thought that possible bias linked with a single 2D image can be reduced by using 3D images, which allow representation of various angles of the image.

Professional groups such as orthodontists and maxillofacial surgeons tend to be selected and these are usually compared with a lay person group of varying ages. The lay person group can

sometimes be subdivided into the general public and those who are undergoing orthodontics and ready for orthognathic surgery. However, studies have shown that there is minimal difference in the perception of facial aesthetics between varying age groups, and therefore having a range of ages may not be necessary.

With the evolution of beauty ideals and the greater influence of social media and cosmetic treatment on facial aesthetics, the orthodontic team must widen their knowledge of these norms to continue to assess and aim to achieve a balance of soft tissue and occlusal aesthetics. Studies of patient perception of the nasolabial angle have been historically carried out using 2-dimensional simulated silhouette images, however the literature does not document such studies being carried out using 3-dimensional images using male, female, and non-gender specific and non-textured images.

# CHAPTER 2

# AIMS AND NULL HYPOTHESIS

•
#### 2.1 Primary aim

The primary aim of this study was to determine which nasolabial angle, from 70° to 110° was thought of as the most attractive by laypeople and clinicians and did the rating score depend on the type of image they viewed i.e., 2D facial profile silhouettes, 3D female textured, 3D male textured and 3D grey non-textured images.

#### 2.1.1 Primary outcome measure

Difference in facial attractiveness rating score between clinicians and laypeople.

#### 2.1.2 Null hypothesis

There was no statistically significant difference (p < 0.05) in facial attractiveness rating score between clinicians and laypeople when assessing 5 different nasolabial angles using 2D silhouettes, 3D female textured, 3D male textured and 3D grey non-textured images.

#### 2.2 Secondary aims

The secondary aims of this study were to,

- 1. Assess whether 2D silhouettes, and 3D grey non-textured images were rated similarly.
- 2. Determine which nasolabial angles clinicians and laypeople would seek treatment.
- Assess which type of image the clinician and laypeople group found most beneficial for rating.

#### 2.2.1 Secondary null hypothesis

There was no statistically significant difference (p < 0.05) in facial attractiveness rating score between clinicals and laypeople rating 2D silhouettes and 3D grey non-textured images.

# CHAPTER 3

# **MATERIALS & METHODS**

#### 3.1 Study Design

The study was executed as a cross-sectional study. Participants were recruited initially verbally by the principal investigators (SEH and BSK). This was followed up with a formal written invitation to participate in the study, providing study information sheets and written consent forms as hard or soft copies (Appendix I).

#### 3.2 Ethical Approval

Ethical approval was sought and obtained from the University of Birmingham's Research and Ethics committee (ERN 20-1332).

#### 3.3 Sample Size Calculation

A *priori* sample size calculation was carried out using G\*power (Faul et al., 2007). For the calculation, the power was set at 0.9 (90%), the statistical significance level at p = 0.05, and an effect size of 0.2 (Cohen, 1988).

Following statistical advice it was suggested that the 7 point Likert scale should be considered as continuous data and the facial attractiveness score will probably not be normally distributed. In view of this an additional 15% should be added to the sample size calculation. Following this a minimum of 46 raters were required in each the clinician and laypeople group.

#### 3.4 Rater recruitment

Fifty clinicians and seventy two laypeople were recruited as raters for the study. The clinician group were Orthodontists recruited from the West Midlands Orthodontic Society, the Northern Universities Consortium and past and present trainees from Birmingham Dental Hospital,

working as Specialist Orthodontists. The laypeople group were recruited from the Birmingham School of Science, University of Birmingham. Seventy-two participants responded from the laypeople group and all were recruited and participated in the study to avoid selection bias.

### 3.4.1 Clinician group

The inclusion criteria included;

- Adults over the age of 18 years old, with capacity to consent.
- General Dental Council registered dentists.
- Registered specialist orthodontists.
- Trainee orthodontists StR and post-CCST level.

The exclusion criteria were:

- Non English speakers.
- Non registered GDC dentists.
- Non registered Orthodontists.

### 3.4.2 Laypeople group

The inclusion criteria included;

- Adults over the age of 18 years old, with capacity to consent
- No previous history of facial surgery, treatment for facial deformities, or facial trauma

The exclusion criteria were:

- Non English speakers
- History of facial surgery, treatment for facial deformities, or facial trauma

#### 3.5 Questionnaires

Each rater was provided with a rating sheet to complete (Appendix II).

#### 3.5.1 Rating sheet

Image rating was undertaken using a 7-point scale Likert scale with the following headings: 1, extremely unattractive; 2, very unattractive; 3, slightly unattractive; 4, neither attractive nor unattractive; 5, slightly attractive; 6, very attractive; or 7, extremely attractive. The Likert scale was completed on paper for those who participated in the study on site (face to face) at the University of Birmingham. For those completing the ratings virtually, via Microsoft Teams, the Likert scale was completed using a Microsoft Word document or a PDF document.

For each image, raters were also asked two additional follow up questions,

- 1. 'Would you consider seeking treatment if this image represented your own appearance?' (Yes or No).
- 2. 'Which image did you find easiest to rate? (2D silhouette, 3D grey (non textured) image or 3D textured image).

#### 3.6 Three-dimensional image generation

#### 3.6.1 Di4DSNAP imaging system

The 3D imaging system (Di4DSNAP, Dimensional Imaging Ltd, Hillington, Glasgow) used to construct the 3D facial stimuli was made up of six cameras (Canon) arranged in three banks of two cameras, connected to a personal computer. The left and right camera banks captured the left and right aspects of the face respectively, whilst the centre camera captured the mid-region of the face. This allowed full facial coverage from ear to ear. In addition to the camera system,

there were two light sources (Esprit Digital DX1000, Bowens, Essex, UK) which illuminated the subject during capture. The capture time was approximately 1ms.

#### 3.6.2 System calibration

Prior to image capture the system required calibration according to the manufactures instructions. The purpose of the calibration was to determine the intrinsic and extrinsic camera properties. The calibration process involved capturing a calibration target, provided by the manufacturers of the system, at six different orientations. The calibration target was made up of a series of dots with a known distance between their centres, in this case 2 centimetres. The system used the calibration data and the principle of triangulation to determine the depth. This calibration data was required to reconstruct the 3D image from the six 2D images captured by the camera system.

#### 3.6.3 Subject capture

An adult male and female from the staff at the Birmingham Dental Hospital and School volunteered and consented to their facial texture being used in this study. The male volunteer had no facial hair (moustache and beard), as this would obscure the nasolabial region. Both were of Caucasian background.

The male subject was positioned a set distance, determined by the manufacturer, in front of the Di4DSNAP system, immediately behind the subject was a blue screen. Prior to image capture any loose hair, over the volunteers forehead, was tied back and any makeup, jewellery and spectacles removed. The male volunteer was positioned in front of the camera system in rest position and several images taken. This process was repeated for the female subject.

The images were then saved as Wavefront (.OBJ files) which was made up of the following files:

- 1. An OBJ file which contained, the position of each vertex, the UV position of each texture coordinate vertex, vertex normals and the faces that made each polygon. These were defined as a list of vertices, and texture vertices, these together made up the "wire frame mesh". The UV position was used during the 3D modelling process for projecting the 2D image onto the 3D model's surface for texture mapping.
- 2. A separate texture file (.JPEG or .BMP) file as a 2D photograph.
- 3. A material library (.MTL) file which described surface shading (material) properties of objects.

The three files together were required for the re-generation of a 3D image with the appropriate photorealistic texture.

### 3.7 Creation of visual stimuli

The following stages were necessary to produce a 3D face with differing nasolabial angles and with either a male or female texture.

- Generation of a symmetrical 3D face (generic mesh) with anatomical correct features (grey image) without any photorealistic texture.
- 2. Creation of a conformed generic mesh with addition of texture.
- 3. Modification of nasolabial angle of the image.
- 4. Addition of texture to modified 3D facial image male or female.

# 3.7.1 Generation of a symmetrical 3D face with anatomical correct features (grey image) without any photorealistic texture.

A computer generated three-dimensional (3D) symmetrical face was used. The 3D image was provided as a "generic mesh" by Dimensional Imaging Ltd. The generic mesh was constructed from 3,800 vertices and was textureless, Figure 3.1.

#### 3.7.2 Creation of a conformed generic mesh with addition of texture.

The process involved replacing the original Di4DSNAP image wire frame mesh with the generic mesh. This was achieved by the process of "conformation". Conformation changed the shape of the generic mesh so it was the same shape at the original mesh.

The male original .OBJ file and generic mesh .OBJ were imported into Di3DView. The generic mesh was conformed to the original mesh by identifying 22 corresponding anatomical landmarks on both the original mesh and generic mesh, Figure 3.2. Then using the "Shape Transfer" function in Di3DView the generic mesh was elastically deformed to the same shape as the original mesh constrained at the key 22 anatomical landmarks, Figures 3.3 and 3.4. The male conformed generic mesh was then saved as an .OBJ file. This file contained the data to reconstruct the wire frame but had no texture.

The original photorealistic texture needed to be transferred to the conformed generic mesh. This was achieved using the "Material Transfer" function in Di3DView which mapped the original UV's to the conformed generic mesh. This process involved selecting the polygon faces



**Figure 3. 1** Three-dimensional (3D) "generic mesh" provided by Dimensional Imaging Ltd. The generic mesh was constructed from 3,800 vertices and was textureless.



Figure 3. 2 Corresponding anatomical landmarks on both the original mesh and generic mesh, for conformation.



**Figure 3. 3** Conformed generic mesh – same shape as original facial mesh – frontal view



Figure 3. 4 Conformed generic mesh – same shape as original facial mesh – profile view

on the conformed generic mesh and assigning the male texture to the polygon face, Figures 3.5 and 3.6. This was saved as a new .OBJ file, with new .MTL file and the original male texture file (.JPEG), Figure 3.7. This entire process was repeated for the female subject, again producing a new .OBJ file, with new .MTL file and the original female texture file (.JPEG). It is worth noting that both the male and female images originated from same generic mesh and so had the same number of vertices (but different co-ordinates), as well as the same UV position for each texture coordinate vertex, vertex normals and the faces that made each polygon.

#### 3.7.3 Modification of nasolabial angle

The generic mesh (.OBJ) was imported into 3dMD. Patient and a facial mid-plane was extracted using the "Extract Facial Mid-Plane" tool in the software. The mid-plane was created following the manual selection of three points; Glabella, Nasal tip and Subnasale. Following this the "Free-form" tool was selected which opened a separate window with a 2D profile of the 3D image created from the mid-facial plane. The shape of the 2D profile could be changed by dragging the outline to a new position on the 2D image. Any changes made to the surface of the 2D image were propagated into 3D affecting the whole surface. The nasolabial angle was adjusted until it was at 70° and the image saved in .OBJ format. This was repeated for nasolabial angles of 80°, 90°, 100° and 110°, Figures 3.8 and 3.9.

#### 3.7.4 Addition of texture to modified 3D facial image – male and female.

As highlighted previously the conformed generic meshes for both the male and female subject were constructed from the same generic mesh. Therefore, at this stage the .MTL file could be edited so either the male or female photorealistic soft tissue textured image (.JPEG) file could



Figure 3. 5 Aligning texture to conformed generic mesh – faces & UV's identified



Figure 3. 6 Aligning texture to conformed generic mesh – texture transfer



Figure 3. 7 Final 3D image – male, textured 3D conformed mesh



Figure 3. 8 Creation of modifiable 2D profile using 3dMD



Figure 3. 9 Example 3D image – 2D profile images was adjusted to increase nose

be loaded. In other words, the female texture map could be loaded over the male facial surface shape and vice versa.

#### 3.7.4.1 Two-dimensional (2D) facial profile silhouette with different nasolabial angles

The modified generic mesh with a nasolabial of 70° was opened in Di3DView, the MTL file was edited to read no texture. The image was re-orientated so that the Frankfort plane was parallel to the horizontal plane with the subject facing to the right and the screen captured. This was then copied into Adobe Photoshop and the image converted into a facial profile silhouette by finding the soft tissue / background boundary and filling the profile soft tissue outline in black and the surrounding background in white. This was repeated for the images with a nasolabial angle of 80°, 90°, 100° and 110° and the 5 images saved in Powerpoint, Figure 3.10.

### 3.7.4.2 Male and female 3D textured images with different nasolabial angles

The modified generic mesh with a nasolabial of 70° was copied into a new folder containing its .MTL file and the male and female texture file (.JPEG). The .MTL file was edited to read the male texture, and the image opened in Di3DView. This produced a 3D facial image of a male with a 70° nasolabial angle. The images were re-orientated so that the Frankfort plane was parallel to the horizontal plane with the subject facing to the right. The image was rotated from the right profile position to the left by 45° and back again to right profile. This was repeated 3 times over a 30 second period, whilst being recorded with an on-screen recorder, and saved as a .MP4 file. This was repeated for the female image, after having edited the .MTL file to read the female .JPEG file. This entire process was repeated for the images with a nasolabial angle of 80°, 90°, 100° and 110°. In total this produced 10 video clips (.MP4), 5 female and 5 male textured images, Figures 3.11 and 3.12.



Figure 3. 10 Two-dimensional (2D) facial profile silhouette with different nasolabial angles



Figure 3. 11 Female 3D textured images with different nasolabial angles



Figure 3. 12 Male 3D textured images with different nasolabial angles

#### 3.7.4.3 3D grey images with different nasolabial angles

The modified generic mesh with a nasolabial of 70° was opened in Di3DView, the MTL file was edited to read no texture. This produced a grey 3D facial image with a 70° nasolabial angle. As before, the image was re-orientated so that the Frankfort plane was parallel to the horizontal plane with the subject facing to the right. The image was rotated from the right profile position to the left by 45° and back again to right profile. This was repeated 3 times over a 30 second period, whilst being recorded with an on-screen recorder, and saved as a .MP4 file. This was repeated for the images with a nasolabial angle of 80°, 90°, 100° and 110°; in total producing 5 video clips (.MP4), Figure 3.13.

#### 3.8 Preparation of images for rating

For ease of viewing, the video sequences (.MP4) were embedded into a PowerPoint presentation, together with the 2D facial profile silhouette images. The images were grouped together into their main categories i.e. 2D facial profile silhouette, 3D textured (female), 3D textured (male) and 3D non textured grey. Within each group the different nasolabial angle images appeared in a random order. In addition, two duplicate images from each group were chosen at random and included in each respective group. In total 28 images where embedded into the Powerpoint presentation.

#### 3.8.1 Image rating

Prior to image rating, written and verbal instruction were provided on completing the 7-point rating scale. Raters were directed towards assessing the nasolabial region and were given the opportunity to ask questions prior to beginning the image rating session.



Figure 3. 13 3D grey images with different nasolabial angles

#### 3.8.1.1 Laypeople group

The images, embedded in the PowerPoint presentation, were viewed on a projector screen in a seminar room within the University of Birmingham. Due to social distancing and COVID restrictions three back to back consecutive presentations were necessary to allow the 72 individuals to view the presentation. A timer was set to ensure the participants viewed each image for 30 seconds during the rating presentation. The laypeople group were asked to complete a paper based scoring sheet which was transferred to an EXCEL file for further analysis.

#### 3.8.1.2 Clinician group

Collecting data for the orthodontist group was more complex due to COVID-19 restrictions, resulting in face to face meetings being cancelled, delays in meetings and availability of participants due to redeployment. Multiple Microsoft Team meetings were held and the presentations were carried out virtually. Again, a timer was set to ensure the participants viewed each image for 30 seconds during the rating presentation. The clinician group were asked to either complete a paper based scoring sheet or WORD document, which was returned to the principal investigator SEH. Two separate EXCEL sheets were created, one for the clinician group and the other for the laypeople group. The Excel sheets were completed with coded information to allow the anonymous data to be analysed.

#### 3.9 Statistical analysis

Following statistical advice, rater scores derived from the 7-point Likert scale were treated as continuous data which would not be normally distributed. In view of this median and

interquartile ranges data was predominately presented, together with the mean and standard deviation.

To determine the intrarater reliability analyses the intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) was used.

To determine if there was a statistically significant difference (p = 0.05) in facial attractiveness rating score between clinicians and laypeople when assessing 5 different nasolabial angles using 2D facial profile silhouettes, 3D female textured, 3D male textured and 3D grey non-textured images a Freidman test was performed, followed by a post hoc analysis using a Wilcoxon signed-rank test with a Bonferroni correction were appropriate.

A Mann-Whitney U test was used to determine if there was a statistically significant difference (p = 0.05) in facial attractiveness rating score between clinicians and laypeople when assessing 5 different nasolabial angles using 2D facial profile silhouettes, 3D female textured, 3D male textured and 3D grey non-textured images.

To determine if there was a statistically significant difference (p = 0.05) in facial attractiveness rating score between clinicians and laypeople when assessing 5 different nasolabial angles using 2D facial profile silhouettes and 3D grey non-textured images a Wilcoxon signed rank test was performed.

## CHAPTER 4

# RESULTS

#### 4.1 Intrarater reliability

Table 4.1 shows the intraclass correlation coefficients for the intra-rater reliability of clinicians and laypeople when they scored the 4 different types of duplicate image. Values less than 0.5 are indicative of poor reliability, between 0.5 and 0.75 indicate moderate reliability, between 0.75 and 0.9 indicate good reliability, and values greater than 0.90 indicate excellent reliability (Koo and Li, 2016). For both the clinicians and laypeople the ICC was between 0.80 and 0.86 for clinicians and 0.75 to 0.89, indicating a good level of reliability.

# 4.2 Effect of nasolabial angle on facial attractiveness rating based on the different image types

#### 4.2.1 Two-dimension (2D) facial profile silhouettes

For the laypeople group, based on a Freidman test, there was a statistically significant difference in the facial attractiveness scores depending on the nasolabial angle being assessed (p = 0.001). A post hoc analysis using a Wilcoxon signed-rank test was conducted with a Bonferroni correction. The median (IQR) facial attractiveness scores for nasolabial angles of 70°, 80°, 90°, 100° and 110° were 3 (3 to 4), 4 (4 to 5), 4 (4 to 5), 4 (3 to 5) and 3 (2 to 4) respectively, Table 4.2. There were no significant differences between nasolabial angles of 80°, 90° and 100° (p = 0.968), or between 70° and 110° (p = 0.956). However, the facial attractiveness scores were statistically significantly lower (p = 0.001) for 70°, 110° than for 80°, 90°, 100°.

For the clinician group, there was a statistically significant difference in the facial attractiveness scores depending on the nasolabial angle being assessed (p = 0.001). The median (IQR) facial attractiveness scores for a nasolabial angle of 70°, 80°, 90°, 100° and 110° were 3 (2 to 3),

55

**Table 4.** 1 The intraclass correlation coefficients for the intra-rater reliability of clinicians and laypeople when they scored the 4 different types of duplicate image

Viewing image	Intraclass Correlation Coefficients (ICC)		
	Clinician	Laypeople	
2D facial profile silhouette	0.86	0.86	
3D female textured	0.75	0.80	
3D male textured	0.85	0.80	
3D non-textured grey	0.89	0.82	

Table 4. 2 Descriptive statistics for the laypeople group facial attractiveness ratin	g
assessing five different nasolabial angles using 2D facial profile silhouettes	

Nasolabial angle	Median rating	IQR	Mean rating	SD
70 °	3	3 to 4	3.4	0.9
80 °	4	4 to 5	4.5	0.9
90°	4	4 to 5	4.2	0.9
100°	4	3 to 5	3.9	0.9
110°	3	2 to 4	2.9	1.0

5 (4 to 6), 5 (4 to 6), 4 (3.75 to 5) and 3 (2.75 to 3) respectively, Table 4.3. Again, there were no significant differences for nasolabial angles between 80°, 90° and 100° (p = 0.998), or between 70° and 110° (p = 0.945). The facial attractiveness scores were statistically significantly lower (p = 0.001) for nasolabial angles of 70°, 110° than for 80°, 90°, 100°.

Clinicians and laypeople rated 2D facial profile silhouette images with 70° and 110° nasolabial angles as the least attractive. Both groups gave the 80° nasolabial angle the highest facial attractiveness score. However, there was no statistically significant differences between nasolabial angles of 80°, 90° and 100°. A Mann-Whitney U test showed clinicians rated the images with a 70° nasolabial angle as significantly more unattractive than laypeople (p=0.005). For a 90° nasolabial angle, clinicians rated the images as significantly more attractive than laypeople (p=0.005), Table 4.4.

#### 4.2.2 Three-dimensional (3D) female textured images

For the laypeople group, there was a statistically significant difference in the facial attractiveness scores depending on the nasolabial angle being assessed (p = 0.001). The median (IQR) facial attractiveness scores for nasolabial angles of 70°, 80°, 90°, 100° and 110° were 4 (3 to 5), 5 (4 to 5), 4 (3 to 5), 2 (2 to 3) and 2 (2 to 3) respectively, Table 4.5. There were no significant differences between 100° and 110° (p = 0.307), 70° and 90° (p = 0.998) and 80° and 90° (p=0.651). 3D female textured images with nasolabial angles of 100° and 110° had statistically significantly (p = 0.001) lower facial attractiveness scores than nasolabial angles of 70°, 80° and 90°.

Nasolabial angle	Median rating	IQR	Mean rating	SD
70 °	3	2 to 3	3.1	1.1
80 °	5	4 to 6	4.8	1.2
90°	5	4 to 6	4.7	1.1
100°	4	3.75 to 5	4.2	0.8
110°	3	2.75 to 3	2.9	0.8

**Table 4. 3** Descriptive statistics for the clinician group facial attractiveness ratingassessing five different nasolabial angles using 2D facial profile silhouettes

**Table 4.** 4 Difference in attractiveness rating assessing five different nasolabialangles using 2D facial profile silhouettes between the clinician and laypeoplegroup following a Mann-Whitney U test

Nasolabial angle	p-value	
70 °	0.005*	
80 °	0.054	
90 °	0.005*	
100°	0.255	
110°	0.720	

Mann-Whitney U test \*(p<0.05)

Nasolabial angle	Median rating	IQR	Mean rating	SD
70 °	4	3 to 5	3.7	1.3
80 °	5	4 to 5	4.4	1.0
90 °	4	3 to 5	3.9	1.1
100°	2	2 to 3	2.8	1.2
110°	2	2 to 3	2.4	0.9

**Table 4. 5** Descriptive statistics for the laypeople group facial attractiveness rating assessingfive different nasolabial angles using 3D female textured images

For the clinician group, there was a statistically significant difference in the facial attractiveness scores depending on the nasolabial angle being assessed (p = 0.001). The median (IQR) facial attractiveness scores for a nasolabial angle of 70°, 80°, 90°, 100° and 110° were 3 (3 to 4), 5 (4 to 6), 5 (4 to 6), 3 (2 to 3) and 2 (2 to 3) respectively, Table 4.6. Again, there were no significant differences for nasolabial angles between 80° and 90° (p = 0.998) or between 70°, 100° and 110° (p = 0.999). There was however a statistically significant difference (p = 0.001) between the two groups of angles.

Clinicians and laypeople rated 3D female textured images with 70°, 100° and 110° nasolabial angles as the least attractive. Both groups gave the 80° nasolabial angle the highest facial attractiveness scores. There was no there were no statistically significant differences in the facial attractiveness score between nasolabial angles of 80° and 90°. A Mann-Whitney U test showed clinicians rated the images with an 80° and 90° nasolabial angle as both significantly more attractive than laypeople (p=0.036 and p=0.001 respectively), Table 4.7.

#### 4.2.3 Three-dimensional (3D) male textured images

For the laypeople group, there was a statistically significant difference in the facial attractiveness scores depending on the nasolabial angle being assessed (p = 0.001). The median (IQR) facial attractiveness scores for a nasolabial angle of 70°, 80°, 90°, 100° and 110° were 3 (3 to 4), 4 (3 to 5), 5 (4 to 5), 3 (2 to 3) and 3 (2 to 3) respectively. Table 4.8. There were no statistically significant differences in rating score for nasolabial angles between 70°, 100° and 110° (p = 0.973). The laypeople group scored the 90° nasolabial angle as the most attractive, this was statistically significantly greater (p=0.001) then the remaining nasolabial angles.

Table 4.	6 Descriptive statistics for the clinician group facial attractiveness rating asse	essing
five diffe	rent nasolabial angles using 3D female textured images	

Nasolabial angle	Median rating	IQR	Mean rating	SD
70 °	3	3 to 4	3.5	1.2
80 °	5	4 to 6	4.9	1.1
90 °	5	4 to 6	4.7	1.1
100°	3	2 to 3	2.8	0.9
110°	2	2 to 3	2.4	0.7
**Table 4. 7** Difference in attractiveness rating assessing five different nasolabial angles using3D female textured images between the clinician and laypeople group following a Mann-Whitney U test

Nasolabial angle	p-value
70 °	0.171
80 °	0.036*
90 °	0.001*
100°	0.713
110°	0.944

Mann-Whitney U test \*(p<0.05)

Table 4.	8 Descriptive	statistics for	the layped	ople group	facial a	ttractivene	ess rating	assessing
five diffe	rent nasolabia	al angles usir	ng 3D male	textured in	mages			

Nasolabial angle	Median rating	IQR	Mean rating	SD
70 °	3	3 to 4	3.1	1.0
80 °	4	3 to 5	3.9	1.3
90 °	5	4 to 5	4.6	0.9
100°	3	2 to 3	2.9	1.0
110°	3	2 to 3	2.8	0.9

For the clinician group, there was a statistically significant difference in the facial attractiveness scores depending on the nasolabial angle being assessed (p = 0.001). The median (IQR) facial attractiveness scores for a nasolabial angle of 70°, 80°, 90°, 100° and 110° were 3 (2 to 3), 4 (3 to 4), 6 (5 to 6), 3 (3 to 4) and 3.5 (3 to 4) respectively, Table 4.9. There were no significant differences for nasolabial angles between 80°, 100° and 110° (p = 1.0). The facial attractiveness score for the 70° nasolabial angle was the lowest and was statistically significant less (p=0.001) then the remaining nasolabial angles. Again, the clinician group scored the 90° nasolabial angle as the most attractive, which was statistically significantly greater (p=0.001) then the remaining nasolabial angles.

Clinicians and laypeople rated 3D male textured images with 70°, 100° and 110° nasolabial angles as the least attractive. Both groups gave the 90° nasolabial angle the highest facial attractiveness scores. A Mann-Whitney U test showed clinicians rated the images with 70°, 90°, 100° and 110° nasolabial angles as significantly more attractive than laypeople, Table 4.10.

# 4.3 Comparison using 2D facial profile silhouettes and 3D non-textured grey images on facial attractiveness rating.

### 4.3.1 Clinician group

The facial attractiveness scores, given by clinicians, for two-dimensional (2D) facial profile silhouettes and 3D non-textured grey images for each of the five different nasolabial angles (70°, 80°, 90°, 100° and 110°) were compared using the Wilcoxon signed rank test. The median (mean  $\pm$  SD) facial attractiveness scores for the 2D facial profile silhouettes with nasolabial angles of 70°, 80°, 90°, 100° and 110° were 3.0 (3.1  $\pm$  1.1), 5.0 (4.8  $\pm$  1.2), 5.0 (4.7  $\pm$  1.1), 4.0 (4.1  $\pm$  0.8), 3.0 (2.9  $\pm$  0.8) respectively. The median (mean) scores for facial attractiveness for

**Table 4. 9** Descriptive statistics for the clinician group facial attractiveness rating assessingfive different nasolabial angles using 3D male textured images

Nasolabial angle	Median rating	IQR	Mean rating	SD
70 °	3	2 to 3	2.7	0.8
80 °	4	3 to 4	3.7	0.9
90 °	6	5 to 6	5.6	0.9
100°	3	3 to 4	3.6	0.8
110°	3.5	3 to 4	3.6	0.9

**Table 4.** 10 Difference in attractiveness rating assessing five different nasolabial angles using3D male textured images between the clinician and laypeople group following a Mann-Whitney U test

Nasolabial angle	p-value
70 °	0.022*
80 °	0.217
90 °	0.001*
100°	0.001*
110°	0.001*

Mann-Whitney U test \*(p<0.05)

the 3D non-textured grey images with nasolabial angles of 70°, 80°, 90°, 100° and 110° grey images were 3.0 (3.4 ± 1.0), 5.0 (5.2 ± 1.0), 4.5 (4.4 ± 1.0), 3.0 (2.8 ± 0.7), 3.0 (2.6 ± 0.7) respectively. There was no statistical difference in the facial attractiveness rating scores given by clinician raters when viewing 70° (p = 0.113), 80° (p = 0.086) and 90° (p = 0.096) nasolabial angles using 2D facial profile silhouettes and 3D non-textured grey images. However, the 3D non-textured grey images scored significantly lower facial attractiveness scores than the 2D profile silhouettes with nasolabial angles of 100° (p = 0.001) and 110° (p = 0.020), Table 4.11.

### 4.3.2 Laypeople group

The median (mean  $\pm$  SD) scores for facial attractiveness awarded by laypeople, when viewing the 2D facial profile silhouettes with a nasolabial angle of 70°, 80°, 90°, 100° and 110° were 3.0 (3.4  $\pm$  0.9), 4.0 (4.5  $\pm$  0.9), 4.0 (4.2  $\pm$  1.0), 4.0 (3.9  $\pm$  1.0), 3.0 (2.9  $\pm$  0.9) respectively. For 3D non-textured grey images and nasolabial angle of 70°, 80°, 90°, 100° and 110°, the median (mean  $\pm$  SD) facial attractiveness scores were 4.0 (3.8  $\pm$  0.9), 5.0 (4.9  $\pm$ 1.0), 3.0 (3.4  $\pm$  1.1), 3.0 (2.5  $\pm$  1.0), 3.0 (2.7  $\pm$  1.0) respectively.

There was no statistical difference in the facial attractiveness rating scores given by laypeople when viewing 80° (p = 0.08), nasolabial angles using the 2D facial profile silhouettes and 3D non-textured grey images. However, the 3D non-textured grey images scored significantly lower facial attractiveness scores than the 2D facial profile silhouettes with nasolabial angles of 90° (p = 0.001), 100° (p = 0.001) and 110° (p = 0.022). For a nasolabial angle of 70° the 3D non-textured grey images scored significantly higher facial attractiveness scores than the 2D facial profile silhouettes with nasolabial angles of 90° (p = 0.001), 100° (p = 0.001) and 110° (p = 0.022). For a nasolabial angle of 70° the 3D non-textured grey images scored significantly higher facial attractiveness scores than the 2D facial profile silhouettes scores than the 2D facial profile silhouettes scores than the 2D facial attractiveness scores than the 2D facial attractiveness scores than the 2D facial profile silhouettes (p = 0.021), Table 4.11.

**Table 4.** 11 Descriptive statistics showing the effect of using 2D facial profile silhouettes or3D non-textured grey images on facial attractiveness rating.

	Clinicians			La	ypeople	
Nasolabial angle	Median rating	Mean rating	SD	Median rating	Mean rating	SD
	2D pro	ofile silhou	uettes			
70 °	3.0	3.1	1.1	3.0	3.4	0.9
80 °	5.0	4.8	1.2	4.0	4.5	0.9
90°	5.0	4.7	1.1	4.0	4.2	1.0
100°	4.0	4.1	0.8	4.0	3.9	1.0
110°	3.0	2.9	0.8	3.0	2.9	0.9
3D grey non-textured images						
70 °	3.0	3.4	1.0	4.0	3.8	1.0
80 °	5.0	5.2	1.0	5.0	4.9	1.0
90°	4.5	4.4	1.0	3.0	3.4	1.1
100°	3.0	2.8	0.7	3.0	2.5	1.0
110°	3.0	2.6	0.7	3.0	2.7	1.0

### 4.4 Nasolabial angle and seeking treatment

### 4.4.1 Clinician group

The percentage of clinicians who said they would be seeking treatment for each nasolabial angle is shown in Table 4.12 and Figure 4.1.

### 4.4.1.1 Two-dimension (2D) facial profile silhouettes

Based on 2D facial profile silhouettes, 41.7% and 33.3 % of clinicians would seek treatment for nasolabial angles of 110° and 70° respectively. Only 8.3% of clinicians would seek treatment for an 90° nasolabial angle, but this similar for 80° and 100° nasolabial angles.

### 4.4.2.2 Three-dimensional (3D) female textured images

The highest percentage of clinicians seeking treatment were for nasolabial angles of 110° and 100° angles, 40.3% and 47.2% respectively. Based on the 3D female textured image only 4.2% of clinicians would seek treatment for an 80° nasolabial angle.

### 4.4.3.3 Three-dimensional (3D) male textured images

Based on 3D male textured images, the highest percentage of clinicians seeking treatment were for nasolabial angle of 70°, 41.4%. Based on the 3D male textured image only 2.8% of clinicians would seek treatment for an 90° nasolabial angle.

## 4.4.3.4 3D non-textured grey image

The highest percentage of clinicians seeking treatment were for nasolabial angles of 110° and 100° angles, 36.1% and 44.4% respectively. Based on the 3D non-textured grey textured image only 6.9% of clinicians would seek treatment for an 80° nasolabial angle.

**Table 4.** 12 Percentage of laypeople that would seek treatment for each nasolabial angleand the viewing media on which the decision was based.

Viewing image	Nasolabial angle					
viewing image	70°	80°	90°	100°	110°	
2D facial profile silhouette	22.2%	1.4%	8.3%	12.5%	25.0%	
3D female textured	18.1%	5.6%	12.5%	36.1%	48.6%	
3D male textured	22.2%	11.1%	1.4%	23.6%	26.4%	
3D non- textured grey	15.3%	4.2%	16.7%	48.6%	36.1%	



Figure 4. 1 Percentage of laypeople group who would seek treatment for each of the 5 different

nasolabial angles.

### 4.4.2 Laypeople group

The percentage of laypeople who said they would be seeking treatment for each nasolabial angle is shown in Table 4.11 and Figure 4.2.

### 4.4.2.1 Two-dimension (2D) facial profile silhouettes

Based on 2D facial profile silhouettes, 25.0% and 22.2% of laypeople would seek treatment for nasolabial angles of 110° and 70° respectively. Only 1.4% of laypeople would seek treatment for an 80° nasolabial angle.

### 4.4.2.2 Three-dimensional (3D) female textured images

The highest percentage of laypeople seeking treatment were for nasolabial angles of 110° and 100° angles, 48.6% and 36.1% respectively. Based on the 3D female textured image only 5.6% of laypeople would seek treatment for an 80° nasolabial angle.

## 4.4.2.3 Three-dimensional (3D) male textured images

Based on 3D male textured images, the highest percentage of laypeople seeking treatment were for nasolabial angles of 70°, 110° and 100° angles, 22.2%, 23.6% and 26.4% respectively. Based on the 3D male textured image only 1.4% of laypeople would seek treatment for a 90° nasolabial angle.

## 4.4.2.4 Three-dimensional (3D) grey non-textured images

The highest percentage of laypeople seeking treatment were for nasolabial angles of 110° and 100° angles, 48.6% and 36.1% respectively. Based on the 3D non-textured grey textured image only 4.2% of laypeople would seek treatment for an 80° nasolabial angle.



Figure 4. 2 Percentage of laypeople group who would seek treatment for each of the 5 different

nasolabial angles.

## 4.5 Raters preference for image rating

Table 4.13 shows the preference of clinicians and laypeople for viewing 2D facial profile silhouettes, combined 3D female and 3D male textures images, and 3D grey non-textured images. Both groups reported that 2D facial profile silhouettes were the least beneficial and 3D images either grey non-textured or textured as equally beneficial.

**Table 4.** 13 Preference of clinicians and laypeople viewing 2D facial profile silhouettes,combined 3D female and 3D male textures images, and 3D grey non-textured images.

Viewing image	Rater group			
viewing intage	Clinician	Laypeople		
2D facial profile silhouette	8%	10%		
3D textured (male & female)	48%	46%		
3D non-textured grey	44%	44%		

# CHAPTER 5

# DISCUSSION

### 5.1 The significance of the nasolabial angle in orthodontic treatment

The nasolabial complex occupies the central portion of the face and its position and dimensions are at risk of being impacted on by both orthodontic treatment and orthognathic surgery. Therefore, it is important to perform a clinical assessment, and to treatment plan considering the possibility of changing the nasolabial angle and subsequent facial aesthetics (Stromboni, 1979; O'Ryan et al., 1989). Some authors have advocated orthodontic and orthognathic treatment planning should be centred around the soft tissues of the nasolabial complex in order to achieve the most aesthetic results, as good occlusion alone does not always indicate good facial balance (Sarver, 2001; Bergman, 1999; Naini et al., 2015). Soft tissue analysis should be tailored to each individual, with variations in dimensions of the nasolabial angle depending on gender, ethnicity and raters perception (Anicÿ-Miloševicÿ et al., 2008). For some patients there will be a beneficial change in the nasolabial angle whilst in others it could be detrimental.

Historically normative population values for nasolabial angle have been derived as part of larger normative cephalometeric studies, measurements from profile photographs and from profile silhouette studies. Generally, the measurements from cephalometeric studies and measurements from profile photographs have been based on inclusion criteria determined by clinicians i.e. well-balanced facial appearance, class I incisors etc. Whilst profile silhouette studies have been used to assess perceived facial attractiveness; these involve modifying the 2D profile silhouette and assessing the effect on the perceived facial attractiveness. These later types of studies have not solely relied on clinician preferences but have involved laypeople and patients. Involving patients and laypeople in the decision-making process is essential, especially given there is potential to change their facial appearance. As clinicians are trained to interpret profile images, laypeople and patients in general will have had little exposure to

these types of images and may find it difficult to relate to the image. This questions the use of 2D profile silhouette images in perceived facial attractiveness studies as they lack texture, anatomical detail, depth and are non-gender specific. Three dimensional images are more clinically representative compared to two dimensional images, as they have texture, anatomical detail and depth (Sarver, 2001; Da Silveira et al., 2003; Souccar and Kau, 2012; Trebicky et al., 2018). Three-dimensional imaging has the ability to address the shortcomings of 2D profile silhouettes and provide additional information and have a greater impact on a raters perception of facial attractiveness.

# 5.2 Perception of nasolabial aesthetics based on 2D profile silhouette and 3D textured images

The novelty of the present project was the ability to substitute male or female textures onto standardised 3D facial images with five different nasolabial angles, enabling direct comparison of the effect of gender on perceived facial attractiveness, whilst minimising confounding factors. In addition, the perceived facial attractiveness rating of the 3D images were compared to stationary conventional 2D profile silhouette images. This same technique could further be used to compare varying textures in terms of ethnicity and skin colour in future studies, however this was outside of the remit of this investigation.

The results of the present study showed there were differences in perceived facial attractiveness rating between laypeople and clinicians when assessing nasolabial angle aesthetics using 2D profile silhouette and 3D textured images. This is a key finding as many previous studies have used 2D silhouette profiles, compared with 3D imaging, which may not be representative of the real-life clinical situation (Naini et al., 2012; Naini et al., 2015).

The rating of facial attractiveness differed between clinicians and laypeople based on the different nasolabial angles, as well as the type of image being viewed. Based on 2D silhouette images both the clinician group and layperson group rated nasolabial angles of 80°, 90° and 100° as attractive, and an 80° nasolabial angle the most attractive, which was consistent with previous studies (Naini et al., 2015). However, 2D silhouettes with nasolabial angles of 70° and 110° were rated significantly lower (least attractive). This would suggest, based on 2D silhouette images, nasolabial angles of between 80° and 100° would be acceptable to both clinicians and laypeople, and that larger nasolabial angles (110°) would universally be found to be unattractive. In addition, clinicians found more acute nasolabial angles less attractive than laypeople who were more accepting. These findings are not in direct agreement with the range of nasolabial angles in a recent systematic literature review that reported that a nasolabial angle range of 86° to 107° was preferred for men, and 84° to 123° for women (Mohammadi et al., 2021). The review included 21 studies which were based on different raters (orthodontists, laypeople, and patients), different viewing media (colour photographs, black and white photographs, cephalograms, tracings, silhouettes and sketches) as well as different ethnic group subjects (African American, White, Japanese, Iranian and Persian). This heterogeneity may explain the wide range of nasolabial angles reported.

Overall laypeople and clinicians both rated facial attractiveness using 3D textured image, male and female, differently to 2D profile silhouette images. This would suggest that gender and / or facial shape may have an impact on the perception of facial attractiveness. This is important, as previous studies to date, have assessed the effect of nasolabial angle on facial attractiveness based on non-textured and non-gendered 2D profile silhouettes, which are not representative of the three dimensional human face, and are therefore not clinically valid. The human visual

system and the brain are hard wired to look firstly for general patterns in an image and then, if time permits, to acquire more detailed information about the image. This is more efficient as it allows a rapid assessment of the visual situation and time to respond appropriately. Unfortunately, this may lead to erroneous outcomes, but this is the method by which individuals recognise caricatures and silhouettes of images. The human eye is more sensitive to colour than to black and white images, this coupled with information gained from depth, provided by the 3D images, may account for the differences in facial attractiveness scores between 2D profile silhouettes and 3D male and female textured images (Sabih et al., 2011).

Using 3D female textured images, the perceptions of facial attractiveness and different nasolabial angles were different to those based on 2D profile silhouettes. Both the clinicians and laypeople rated the 3D female textured image with a 100° nasolabial angle lower (less attractive) than on the 2D silhouette image. This suggests that the viewing media influences perception of facial attractiveness, as the 100° nasolabial angle on a 2D silhouette was acceptable, but on a 3D female textured image the same nasolabial angle was no longer found attractive. So, the addition of 3D facial shape and texture resulted in a reduction in facial attractiveness score. In comparison to previous normative nasolabial values of 105° ± 10° for women (Brownlee, 1995), the results of the present study showed that more acute nasolabial angles of around 80° - 90° were preferred for females. This study has found that both laypeople, and more so clinicians, rate nasolabial angles of between 80°- 90° for female subjects as the most attractive. This study also found that both laypeople and clinicians rate a nasolabial angle of 90° for male subjects as the most attractive. In comparison to previous normative nasolabial values of  $100^{\circ} \pm 12^{\circ}$  for men (Brownlee, 1995), the results of the present study showed again that a more acute nasolabial angle of around 90° was preferred for males.

Secular facial profile changes have recently been reported in the literature and is significantly more noticeable in women's profiles (Mohammadi et al., 2021; Quinzi et al., 2021). Although the systematic review did not identify an exact trend in the changes in aesthetic perception of the nasolabial angle in females, it indicated that currently sharper angles and fuller lips are perceived more attractive for females (Mohammadi et al., 2021).

This would imply the present historical normative database that drive clinical treatments, may no longer be valid in the 21<sup>st</sup> century. The ideal of fuller lips with a more acute nasolabial angle, in the modern age and in the era of social media, has recently been reported (Eggerstedt et al., 2020). The cross-sectional study found that the nasolabial angle differed from historical studies, with up to 40° more acute than previous studies. With a rise in lip fillers, which are becoming ever more popular, the impact on the nasolabial angle must be assessed and communicated with patients particularly if orthodontic or orthognathic treatment is desired (Droubi et al., 2020).

The use of hyaluronic acid fillers to alter the nasolabial angle has also been reported as a treatment modality in patients undergoing non-surgical rhinoplasty to treat depression of the mid facial region because of downward rotation of the nasal tip (Xiong et al., 2019; Quinzi et al., 2021). The hyaluronic filler was used in the region of the columella and the nasal spine to modify the nasal tip resulting in an acute nasolabial angle (Youn, 2016). Using this method, the nasolabial angle value increased by up to 13.9° following treatment (Quinzi et al., 2021). This non-surgical rhinoplasty results in a more obtuse nasolabial angle compared with lip fillers which result in a more acute nasolabial angle. Therefore, the appropriate technique should be used to address a particular problem and patients should be informed of the risks, benefits,

and effects these changes can have on the facial profile. With the increase in patients seeking such treatments, this is a necessity to communicate to patients prior to treatment as part of the informed consent process.

Psychology based research has shown that facial form, shape, skin texture and viewing angle can all have an impact in an individual's perception of personality and health of subjects (Jones et al., 2012). Multiple parameters have been shown to affect the perception of attractiveness, such as the luminance of skin tone, colour of the lips as well as the fullness of the lip; fuller lips being universally seen as more attractive than thinner lips (Russell, 2009; Stephen and McKeegan, 2010; Bisson and Grobbelaar, 2004). Lip form and position can have an impact on the nasolabial angle and therefore may influence the perception of attractiveness of the nasolabial region (Eggerstedt et al., 2020).

Naini et al (2015) compared the upper and lower components of the nasolabial angle. They assessed the aesthetic impact of the upper lip inclination, which is the lower component of the nasolabial angle, on facial aesthetics (Naini et al., 2015). The upper lip inclination is dependent on the position of the upper incisors, the thickness and tonicity of the upper lip (thicker, flaccid lips will alter to a lesser extent), and the size of the space between the anterior dentoalveolus and the inner surface of the upper lip. The upper lip inclination alters the nasolabial angle independent of the nose (Naini et al., 2015).

The relationship between the upper lip and nasal columella inclination is important in establishing a clinical diagnosis and key for planning treatment. The upper lip inclination is dependent on both the sagittal position of the anterior maxilla as well as the inclination of the

maxillary incisors (Naini et al., 2015). Movement of the maxillary teeth alone will solely influence the lower compartment of the nasolabial angle, whereas maxillary advancement or impaction will likely affect both the lower component of the nasolabial angle and the upper component related to the nasal columella inclination. Therefore, often following orthodontic and orthognathic procedures that may affect the upper component of the nasolabial angle, cosmetic rhinoplasty procedures may be undertaken (Naini et al., 2015).

The use of 3D facial imaging allows capture of the 3D shape of a face together with its photorealistic texture (Todd et al., 2005; Storms et al., 2017). Conventional 2D photographic images, even though they capture texture, fail to adequality capture the true 3D facial depth and shape (Sarver, 2001; Da Silveira et al., 2003). The depiction of facial shape in three dimensions, which the 3D images in this study provided, goes partway in addressing the limitations of conventional 2D images (Souccar and Kau, 2012). The more clinically realistic the image, the more insight it provides to the perception of attractiveness for clinicians and patients (Jones et al., 2012). As well as capturing 3D facial form and texture, appropriate viewing of the images is necessary to unlock its full potential. Ideally 3D images should be viewed using stereoscopic 3D projection as this most closely represents the human visual system (Zhu et al., 2017). The use of stereoscopic 3D projections has been shown to be more reliable than 2D profile and 3D images for rating facial attractiveness. Stereoscopic 3D projections were found to result in lower facial attractiveness scores than either 2D profile or 3D textured images. Overall stereoscopic 3D projection was the preferred method for rating (Zhu et al., 2017). Unfortunately, stereoscopic 3D projection is not routinely used in a clinical setting as it requires specialised viewing equipment. In the present study, the laypeople group viewed the images on a large screen with standardised room lighting. Everyone in this group

sat and individually rated the images simultaneously. With the clinician group however, everyone viewed the images on their personal computer. This would affect the standardisation of viewing the images in this group and should subsequently have only a minor impact on the outcome of the results compared with the layperson group (Jones at al., 2012). The length of time all raters had to view the images was standardised to thirty seconds as it has been previously found that the time viewing and image and making a decision can influenced the outcome of perception (Sabih et al., 2011).

#### 5.3 Repeatability, reliability and reproducibility

Intra-rater reliability is a measure of the level of agreement and consistency between different raters or subjects observing the same entity (Hallgren, 2012). High inter-rater reliability is important as it reduces the risk of bias by minimizing subjectivity and therefore increases the validity of the assessment (Borsboom et al., 2004). Reproducibility on the other hand is obtaining consistent results using the same input (Peng and Hicks, 2021).

Several options exist to determine intra-rater reliability; these include the use of duplicate images within the same rating session or re-rating the images on a second occasion. In the present study repeat duplicate images in the same session were used to assess intra-rater reliability of the raters. This was achieved by duplicating two random images in each group - a total of eight images where duplicated, two in the 2D silhouette group, two from the 3D non textured group and two in each of the female and male textured 3D images. This could have resulted in memory bias as the raters may call the previous score, given the short time interval between rating images. However due to Covid-19, social distancing and re-deployment it was felt that the additional burden of re-arranging a second rating session was not appropriate. As

with the present study, previous studies have used the same methodology and found a good level of intra-rater reliability (Naini et al., 2015). Interestingly, previous studies have reported that 3D images are associated with higher intra-rater reproducibility compared with 2D images and again are the preferred method of rating aesthetics over 2D images (Stebel et al., 2016).

## 5.4 Limitation of the Likert scale

The Likert-type scale has been described as the most preferred, accepted, and beneficial method of rating perception of attractiveness by psychologists in research (Langlois et al., 2000). Recent studies in assessing facial profile attractiveness have used the 7-point Likert rating scale to rate the attractiveness of 2D silhouette images, with the extremities of the scale being indicated by 'extremely unattractive' to 'extremely attractive' (Naini et al., 2015; Naini et al., 2012).

It has been suggested that using too few categories for responding in the Likert-type scale will impede the participant's ability to accurately convey their feelings and therefore reduces reliability of the study (Viswanathan et al., 1996). The Likert scale used in the present study had seven points which widened the response options, reducing the risk of raters feeling unable to convey their feelings (Viswanathan et al., 1996). The following categories were used in this scale to enable full expression of rater thoughts and perception; 'extremely unattractive, very unattractive, slightly unattractive, neither attractive nor unattractive, slightly attractive, very attractive, extremely attractive', which were in line with previous studies (Naini et al., 2012; Naini et al., 2015). A possible limitation of the Likert-type scale includes the production of ordinal measurement values and response styles, such as participants tending towards choosing either neutral or middle category responses or opting for responses that lie at the extremities of the scale (Allen and Seaman, 2007; Albaum, 1997). These types of responses can result in bias and can result in the participants true thoughts not being communicated (Sung and Wu, 2018). However, with the high number of categories to choose from on the 7-point Likert-type scale used in the present study this bias was reduced (Viswanathan et al., 1996). In addition, Likert scales are generally considered ordinal as they consist of a series of systematised categories. However, for the purpose of statistical analysis the outcome values of Likert scales with five or more points, can be considered as continuous data without undermining the integrity of the data (Norman, 2010; Sullivan and Artino, 2013; Zumbo and Zimmerman, 1993).

### 5.5 Sample size calculation

The sample size for the present study determined that a minimum of 46 raters were required for each rater group. The total number of participants rating in each group was 50 for the clinician group and 72 in the laypeople group. Previous studies have used a similar number of raters analysing the aesthetics of changing the nasolabial angle of 2D silhouette images (Naini et al., 2015). In this study the orthodontist group of raters consisted of 35 individuals, whilst the laypeople group consisted of 75 individuals. The study did however have a third group of raters (n=75), who were categorized as pre-treatment orthognathic patients. Similarly, a study comparing the perception of facial aesthetics of Class I, Class II and Class III skeletal patterns between 2D and 3D black and white images utilised three rater groups to assess facial attractiveness (Todd et al., 2005). The three rater groups included 47 orthodontists, 25 maxillofacial surgeons and 78 members of the public (laypeople).

### 5.6 Raters

The primary aim of the present study was to determine if there were any differences in perception of the nasolabial angle between layperson and clinician's and if the perception changed depending on the viewing media. The clinician group of raters were selected as they were commonly involved in orthodontic, orthognathic or a combination treatment. Similar rating groups have been used in previous studies (Naini et al., 2015; Todd et al., 2005).

The laypeople group comprised of first year undergraduate science students who were not current orthodontic patients. There is potential for bias as the laypeople group was a convenience sample rather than a "true random sample" of the population; given the COVID-19 pandemic it was not possible to use the larger population, as a result a local University of Birmingham convenience sample was used. The mean age of this group was lower than the clinician group. Previous studies have shown that there is minimal difference in the perception of facial aesthetics between varying age groups (Salehi et al., 2019).

Ideally a group of pre-treatment patients should have been used in the present study to determine their nasolabial angle preference. It could be argued that this group could be bias as they may have had a prior conversation about their nasolabial during the informed consent process. However, it is this group of individuals whose nasolabial angle may be affected by treatment and as such should be consulted. Given the COVID-19 pandemic it was not possible to use NHS patients and so they were not included.

### 5.7 Rating 2D silhouette images and 3D grey non-textured images

Two-dimensional silhouette images are profile images which lack texture, anatomy, and gender. Three-dimensional grey images also lack texture, and as a result gender, but have a surface that is illuminated to produce the effect of depth and highlight facial anatomy, for example nasal form, lip shape and vermillion border outline. They are viewed on a flat monitor screen and are not actually 3D; the illusion of 3D depth is obtained by the addition of lighting and shadowing. So, by comparing 2D silhouette images and 3D grey non-textured images, the effect of 3D perception and facial anatomy on facial attractiveness was being investigated. The results indicate that the addition of depth and facial anatomy does influence the facial attractiveness score.

In the layperson group, nasolabial angles of 90°, 100° and 110° were perceived as less attractive based on the 3D grey non-textured images compared to the 2D silhouette images. The clinician group also rated 3D grey non-textured images as less attractive compared to 2D silhouette images for nasolabial angles of 100° and 110°. There was a consensus view that laypeople and clinicians rated nasolabial angles of 100° and 110° less attractive using 3D grey non-textured images over 2D silhouette images. For nasolabial angles of 70°, 80° and 90° the clinician group rated the facial attractiveness comparable for 2D silhouette and 3D grey non-textured images. Whilst laypeople rated a 70° nasolabial angle as more attractive and 90° nasolabial angle as less attractive and on 3D non-textured grey images compared to the 2D silhouettes. The differences between the laypeople and clinician group may be because the clinician group routinely view profile images as photographs and cephalograms and can interpret the 2D silhouette images whilst laypeople are not familiar with 2D silhouette images and relying more on the additional visual cues during the rating process. Given that the

historical norms for the nasolabial angle in the literature, are predominantly derived from 2D images, the results of the present study suggest that use of 2D images may not be clinically valid as they do not represent the true clinical picture. Some nasolabial angles that were once thought to be attractive using 2D silhouettes may not be seen as attractive in 3D i.e., in real life. This is not surprising as 3D images have depth and address most of the limitations of 2D images (Souccar and Kau, 2012). This is an important finding as it may impact patient's perception of treatment outcomes or may influence their desire to undergo treatment.

### 5.8 Willingness to seek treatment regarding the nasolabial angle

The willingness to seek treatment in relationship to the nasolabial angle is dependent on the images being viewed, in particular the gender. The results of the present study show that both clinicians and laypeople followed a similar trend of when they would seek treatment. Generally nasolabial angles of 100° and 110° were thought of as unattractive enough to seek treatment, irrespective of the viewing media, by both rater groups. The only exception was with clinicians (41.7%) would seek treatment for a 70° nasolabial than 100° and 110°. There was a tendency for clinicians to seek treatment for a 70° nasolabial regardless of viewing media. This is an important finding as it suggests there is marked difference between clinicians and laypeople, emphasising the importance of seeking full patient involvement and understanding of their wishes and concerns and not treating individuals to a standard, or clinician preferences, particularly when invasive treatment, such as orthognathic surgery. This study also shows the influence of gender and nasolabial angle on perceived facial attractiveness and confirms the use of 3D textured images, male and female, can change the perceived attractiveness and the

desire to seek treatment. These results question the use of 2D silhouette in studies to rate perceived facial attractiveness (Naini et al., 2015).

### 5.9 Effect of rater gender on outcome

Historically, studies have found no association between the gender of the rater and facial attractiveness rating score (Tedesco et al., 1983b). The results of the present study supported this finding and found there were no statistical difference in the facial attractiveness rating between male and female clinicians when rating 3D non-textured grey and 3D textured female images, for all the nasolabial angles. However where using 2D silhouettes and 3D textured male images, there were statistical differences in the facial attractiveness rating scores between male and female clinician raters only when viewing images with nasolabial angles of 110°. Male clinicians rated these images as more attractive than female clinicians. This would suggest that female clinicians were more critical of obtuse nasolabial angles when assessing 3D male textured images, whilst males were more accepting.

Male and female laypeople rated all the nasolabial angles similarly based on 3D non-textured grey, 3D textured female and 2D silhouette images. Statistical differences in facial attractiveness scores between male and female laypeople were observed for 80°, 90° and 100° nasolabial angles using 3D male textured images. For all three nasolabial angles female laypersons rated the images as more attractive than male layperson raters. This showed that male raters were more critical of male images than female raters. This is contrary to previous studies that have found no specific gender differences when rating 2D and 3D images, specifically when assessing Class I skeletal base profiles (Todd et al., 2005).

The reasons for this are not fully understood and there is conflicting evidence in the literature regarding the association of gender and perception of profile attractiveness. Many studies found no difference between gender and aesthetic perception (Johnston et al., 2005; Todd et al., 2005; Abu Aqoub & Al-Khateeb, 2011). One study however, found that although rating between genders were similar, male subjects preferred female profiles that were more convex, whilst females had a preference to more concave female profiles (Turkkahraman and Goklap 2004).

### 5.10 Raters preference for image rating

Across the orthodontist and lay person group the results were consistent. All groups preferred the 3D images compared with the 2D silhouette images. There was a marginal preference for use of textured 3D images compared with the 3D grey images in both groups. These findings are consistent with the findings of previous studies in which participants found 3D images to be more beneficial than 2D images (Zhu et al., 2017; Stebel et al., 2016). However, raters reported 3D textured images were more informative and beneficial when compared with 2D images, which correlates with the results of the present study

## 5.11 Limitations of the study

There are several limitations with the current study, and include:

• As this study was carried out during the COVID-19 pandemic, recruiting raters was challenging and the clinician group rating needed to be carried out virtually. This resulted in everyone using a different viewing screen to view and rate the images. This may have had an effect on the quality of the image and thus the rating outcome.

- The clinician group consisted of individuals of varying clinical experience including orthodontic speciality registrars in training, specialist orthodontists and consultant orthodontists. Therefore, again this may have had an impact on the outcomes of the results. Previous studies however have subdivided their groups into orthodontists and maxillofacial surgeons and collectively used the umbrella term of "professionals" (Todd et al., 2005).
- This study was carried out using 3D male and female textured Caucasian images only. Therefore, this study is not generalisable to other ethnic groups in terms of perceived aesthetics of the nasolabial angle as we know from previous studies that racial norms vary between ethnicities (Weng et al., 2015).
- The images in this study included male and female gender 3D textured images. The male and female images were rated differently, and this has been historically the case in terms of acceptability or norms for the nasolabial angle (Guyuron, 1993; Orten and Hilger, 2002). However, in a changing age with gender neutrality and not identifying as either male or female, this may not be fully relevant to all groups of patients presenting for treatment. However, the use of 3D grey non textured images may be of use in such instances as they are not gender specific.

# CHAPTER 6

# CONCLUSIONS

## Conclusions

This study showed that the use of different image types (2D facial profile silhouette, 3D female textured, 3D male textured and 3D grey non textured) with the same nasolabial angle, resulted in different facial attractiveness ratings by both clinicians and laypeople. Two-dimensional facial profile silhouette underestimated the facial attractiveness of images with 100° and 110° nasolabial angles when compared with 3D images in both clinician and laypeople groups.

Both clinicians and laypeople rated the 3D male and female textured images with 70°, 100° and 110° nasolabial angles as the least attractive, whilst rating the males with a nasolabial angle of 90° and females with nasolabial angles of 80° as most attractive. Several factors affected the ratings of facial attractiveness including, laypeople rated images more unattractive than clinicians, however clinicians were still more likely to seek treatment to improve aesthetics. The facial attractiveness ratings of the nasolabial angle was also affected by the gender of the texture applied to the 3D image.

The type of images influences the facial attractiveness scores. Both clinicians and laypeople rated 3D grey non-textured images with nasolabial angles of 100° and 110° as less attractive than 2D facial profile silhouette images. Laypeople rated 3D grey non-textured images with a 70° nasolabial angle as more attractive than 2D facial profile silhouette images; clinicians rated 70°, 80° and 90° nasolabial angles similarly for both types of image.

Both clinicians and laypeople preferred the use of 3D textured images, followed closely by the 3D grey non-textured images. Both groups indicated that the 2D facial profile silhouette images

are the least preferred and least beneficial image type for rating the perception of nasolabial angle aesthetics and facial attractiveness.

The primary null hypothesis was therefore rejected as there was a statistically significant difference (p < 0.05) in facial attractiveness rating score between clinicians and laypeople when assessing 5 different nasolabial angles using 2D facial profile silhouette, 3D female textured, 3D male textured and 3D grey non-textured images.

The secondary null hypothesis was also rejected as there was a statistically significant difference (p < 0.05) in the rating of the nasolabial angles between 3D grey non-textured image and 2D facial profile silhouette images for both laypeople and clinicians.

# CHAPTER 7

## REFERENCES

### 7.1 References

Abu Arqoub S and Al-Khateeb S. (2011) Perception of facial profile attractiveness of different antero-posterior and vertical proportions. *European Journal of Orthodontics*, 33(1), 103-111.

Al-Omari I, Millett DT, Ayoub A, Bock M, Ray A, Dunaway D and Crampin L. (2003) An appraisal of three methods of rating facial deformity in patients with repaired complete unilateral cleft lip and palate. *Cleft Palate Craniofacial Journal*, 40(5), 530–537.

Albaum G. (1997) The Likert scale revisited: An alternate version. *Journal of the Market Research Society*, 39(2), 331–348.

Allen IE and Seaman CA. (2007) Likert scales and data analyses. *Quality Progress,* 40, 64–65.

Anicÿ-Miloševicÿ S, Lapter-Varga M, Šlaj M. (2008) Analysis of the soft tissue facial profile by means of angular measurements. *European Journal of Orthodontics*, 30(2), 135-140.

Armijo BS, Brown M, Guyuron B. (2012) Defining the ideal nasolabial angle. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery*, 129(3), 759-764.

Awarun B, Blok J, Pauwels R, Politis C, Jacobs R. (2019) Three-dimensional imaging methods to quantify soft and hard tissues change after cleft-related treatment during growth in patients with cleft lip and/or palate: a systematic review. *Dentomaxillofacial Radiology*, 48(2), 20180084.
Bergman RT. (1999) Cephalometric soft tissue facial analysis. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*, 116(4), 373-389.

Bisson M and Grobbelaar A. (2004) The esthetic properties of lips: A comparison of models and nonmodels. *Angle Orthodontist*, 74(2), 162-166.

Borsboom D, Mellenbergh GJ, Van Heerden J. (2004) The concept of validity. *Psychological Review*, 111(4), 1061-1071.

Breacher E, Viswanath A, Finkelman M, Papageorge M. (2019) Is age a risk factor for orthognathic surgery complications? *International Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery*, 48(1), 247.

Brownlee RE. Anthropometry of the head and neck. 17. 2nd ed. New York, USA: Raven Press; 1995

Burstone, C. J. (1964) Lip posture and its significance in treatment planning. *American Journal* of Orthodontics, 53(4), 262-284.

Cline M, Herman J, Shaw E and Morton R. (1992) Standardization of the visual analogue scale. *Nursing Research*, 41(6), 378-80. Cochrane SM, Cunningham SJ, Hunt NP. (1999) A comparison of the perception of facial profile by the general public and three groups of clinicians. *International Journal of Adult Orthodontic and Orthognathic Surgery*, 14, 291(4)–295.

Cohen J. (1988) Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences. New York, NY: Routledge Academic.

Couper M. (2006) Evaluating the Effectiveness of Visual Analog Scales: A Web Experiment. Social Science Computer Review, 24(2), 227-245.

Da Silveira AC, Daw JL, Kusnoto B, et al. (2003) Craniofacial applications of three dimensional laser surface scanning. *Journal of Craniofacial Surgery*, 14(4), 449–456.

Dantas WR, Silveira MM, Vasconcelos BC, Porto GG. (2015) Evaluation of the nasal shape after orthognathic surgery, *Brazilian Journal of Otorhinolaryngology*, 81(1), 19–23.

Dongieux J and Sassouni V. (1980) The contribution of mandibular positioned variation to facial esthetics. *Angle Orthodontist,* 50(4), 334-339.

Droubi M, Al-Moudallal Y, Mouhamad M, Al-Nerabieah Z. (2020) Changes in nasolabial angle and mentolabial angle after lips augmentation with hyaluronic acid: clinical study. *Journal of Dentistry and Oral Sciences*, 7(11), 912-916. Eggerstedt M, Rhee J, Urban MJ, Manghas A, Smith RM, Revenaugh PC. (2020) Beauty is in the eye of the follower: Facial aesthetics in the age of social media. *American Journal of Otolaryngology*, 41(6): 102643.

Elias AC. (1980) The importance of the nasolabial angle in the diagnosis and treatment of malocclusions. *International Journal of Orthodontics*, 18(2), 7-12.

Farkas LG. (1994) Anthrometry of the head and face, 2<sup>nd</sup> edn. New York: Raven Press.

Faul F, Erdfelder E, Lang AG and Buchner A. (2007) G\*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behavior Research Methods*, *39(2)*, 175-191.

Felton JM, Sinclair PM, Jones DL, Alexander RG. (1987) A computerized analysis of the shape and stability of mandibular arch form. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*, 92(6), 478-483.

Finnoy JP, Wisth PJ, Boe OE. (1987) Changes in soft tissue profile during and after orthodontic treatment. *European Journal of Orthodontics*, 9(1), 68-78.

Freihofer HP. (1977) Changes in nasal profile after maxillary advancement in cleft and non-cleft patients. *Journal of Maxillofacial and Oral Surgery,* 5, 20-27.

Freitas D, Freitas M, Guilherme J, Freitas, Cardoso C. (2014) Nasolabial Angle at Rest and Upon Smiling. *Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery*, 72(12), 2567e1-2567e5.

Freitas BV, Rodrigues VP, Rodrigues M, de Melo H and Dos Santos P. (2019) Soft tissue facial profile changes after orthodontic treatment with or without tooth extractions in Class I malocclusion patients: A comparative study. *Journal of Oral Biology and Craniofacial Research*, *9*(2), 172–176

Guan YX, Xin L, Tian, PF, Kyung PF, Kyung HM, Kwon TG, Bing L, Wu XP. (2019) Effect of soft tissue thickness on the morphology of lip in orthodontic treatment. *International Journal of Morphology*, *37(4)*, 1245-1251.

Guyuron B. (1993) Nasal proportions. In Gruber R.P. Peck G. C. (eds). *Rhinoplasty: State of the Art*. Mosby, St Louis, MO.

Hallgren KA. (2012) Computing inter-rater reliability for observational data: An overview and tutorial. *Tutorials in Quantitative Methods for Psychology*, 8(1), 23-34.

Harri R. (2016) Varied Definitions of Nasolabial Angle: Searching for Consensus Among Rhinoplasty Surgeons and an Algorithm for Selecting the Ideal Method. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery- Global Open*, 4. 10.1097/GOX.00000000000729. Hennessy RJ, McLearie S, Kinsella A, et al. (2005) Facial surface analysis by 3D laser scanning and geometric morphometrics in relation to sexual dimorphism in cerebral- Craniofacial morphogenesis and cognitive function. *Journal of Anatomy*, 207(3), 283-295.

Hennessy RJ, McLearie S, Kinsella A, et al. (2006) Facial shape and asymmetry by threedimensional laser surface scanning covary with cognition in a sexually dimorphicmanner. *The Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 18(1), 73-80.

Hershon LE, Giddon DB. (1980) Determinants of facial profile self-perception. *American Journal* of Orthodontics, 78(3), 279-295.

Heppt WJ & Vent J. (2015) The facial Profile in the context of facial aesthetics. *Facial Plastic Surgery*, 31(5), 421-430.

Horowitz SL and Hixon EH. (1969) Physiologic recovery following orthodontic treatment. *American Journal of Orthodontics*, 55(1), 1-4.

lared W, da Silva EMK, lared W, Macedo CR. (2017) Esthetic perception of changes in facial profile resulting from orthodontic treatment with extraction of premolars: a systematic review. *Journal of the American Dental Association*, 148(1), 9–16.

Jamieson, S. (2004) Likert scales: How to (ab)use them. *Medical Education*, 38(12), 1212–1218.

Johnston DJ, Hunt O, Johnston CD, burden DJ, Stevenson M, Hepper P. (2005) The influence of the lower face vertical proportion on facial attractiveness. *European Journal of Orthodontics*, 27(4), 349–354.

Jones AL, Kramer RSS, Ward R. (2012) Signals of personality and health: the contributions of facial shape, skin texture, and the viewing angle. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance*, 38(60), 1353-1361.

Joyce C, Xutishi D, Hrubes V and Mason M. (1975) Comparison of fixed interval and visual analogue scales for rating chronic pain. *European Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 14(8), 415-420.

Kerr WJ and O'Donnell JM. (1990) Panel perception of facial attractiveness. *British Journal of Orthodontics*, 17(4), 299–304.

Khamashta-Ldezma L, Naini, BF, Manisali M. (2017) Review of nasal changes with maxillary orthognathic surgery. *Journal of Istanbul University of Dentistry*, 51(3), S52-S61.

Kirschneck C, Proff P, Reicheneder C, Lippold C. (2016) Short-term effects of systematic premolar extraction on lip profile, vertical dimension and cephalometric parameters in borderline patients for extraction therapy - a retrospective cohort study. *Clinical Oral Investigations*, 20(4), 865–874. Kocadereli I. (2001) Changes in soft tissue profile after orthodontic treatment with and without extractions. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*, 122(1), 67–72.

Kokich V, Kokich V and Kiyak H. (2006) Perception of dental professionals and laypersons to altered dental esthetics: asymmetric and symmetric situations. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*, 130(2), 141-151.

Koo TK, Li MY. (2016) A Guideline of Selecting and Reporting Intraclass Correlation Coefficients for Reliability Research. *Journal of Chiropractic Medicine*, 15(2), 155-163.

Krishnan V, Daniel ST, Lazar D, Asok A. (2008) Characterization of posed smile by using visual analog scale, smile arc, buccal corridor measures, and modified smile index. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*, 133(4), 515–523.

Langlois JH, Kalakanis L, Rubenstein AJ, Larson A, Hallam M, and Smoot M. (2000) Maxims or myths of beauty? A meta-analytic and theoretical review. *Psychological Bulletin*, 126 (3), 390– 423.

Little AC, Jones BC and DeBruine LM. (2011) Facial attractiveness: evolutionary based research. Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London. *Series B, Biological Sciences*, 366(1571), 1638–1659.

Lo FD and Hunter WS. (1982) Changes in nasolabial angle related to maxillary incisor retraction. *American Journal of Orthodontics,* 82(5), 384-391. Lombardi R. (1973) The principles of visual perception and their clinical application to denture esthetics. *Journal of Prosthetic Dentistry*, 29(4), 358-382.

Machado A, Moon W, Campos E and Gonzaga Gandini L. (2013) Influence of spacing in the upper lateral incisor area on the perception of smile esthetics among orthodontists and laypersons. *Journal of the World Federation of Orthodontists*, 2(4), e169-e174.

Mansour S, Burstone C, Legan H. (1983) An evaluation of soft-tissue changes resulting from Le Fort I maxillary surgery. *American Journal of Orthodontics*, 84(1), 37-47.

Maple JR, Vig KW, Beck FM, Larsen PE, Shanker S. (2005) A comparison of providers' and consumers' perceptions of facial-profile attractiveness. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*, 128(6), 690–696.

Millar K, Jelcic M, Bonke B and Asbury J. (1995) Assessment of preoperative anxiety: comparison of measures in patients awaiting surgery for breast cancer. *British Journal of Anaesthesia*, 74(2), 180-183.

Mills JR. (1968) The stability of the lower labial segment. A cephalometric survey. *Dental Practitioner and Dental Record*, 18(8), 293-306.

Mohammadi S, Eslamian L, Motamedian SR. (2021). Nasolabial Angle in Profiles Perceived as Attractive: A Scoping Review. *Iranian Journal of Orthodontics*. 15. 10.5812/ijo.119232.

107

Muradin MS, Seubring K, Stoelinga PJ. vd Bilt A, Koole R, Rosenberg AJ. (2011) A prospective study on the effect of modified alar cinch sutures and v-y closure versus simple closing sutures on nasolabial changes after Le Fort I intrusion and advancement osteotomies. *Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery*, 69(3), 870–876.

Naini FB, Cobourne MT, McDonald F, Wertheim D. (2015) The aesthetic impact of upper lip inclination in orthodontics and orthognathic surgery. *European Journal of Orthodontics*, 37(1), 81-86.

Naini FB, Donaldson AN, McDonald F, Cobourne MT. (2012) Assessing the influence of chin prominence on perceived attractiveness in the orthognathic patient, clinician and layperson. *International Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery*, 41(7), 839-846.

Nanda RS, Megan H, Kapila S, Goorhuis J. (1990) Growth changes in the soft tissue facial profile. Angle Orthodontist, 60(3), 177-190.

Norman, G. (2010) Likert scales, levels of measurement and the 'laws' of statistics. *Advances in Health Sciences Education*, 15(5), 625-632.

O'Ryan F, Schendel S, Carlotti A. (1989) Nasal anatomy and maxillary surgery. III. Surgical techniques for correction of nasal deformities in patients undergoing maxillary surgery. *The International Journal of Adult Orthodontics and Orthognathic Surgery*, 4(3), 157-174.

O'Ryan F, Schendel S. (1989) Nasal anatomy and maxillary surgery. II. Unfavorable esthetics following the Le Fort I osteotomy. *The International Journal of Adult Orthodontics and Orthognathic Surgery*, 4(2), 75-84.

O'Doherty J, Winston J, Critchley H, Perrett D, Burt DM, Dolan RJ. (2003) Beauty in a smile: the role of medial orbitofrontal cortex in facial attractiveness. *Neuropsychologia*, 41(2), 147–155.

Orten SS and Hilger PA. (2002) Facial analysis of the rhinoplasty patient. In Papel I.D. et al. (eds), Facial Plastics and Reconstructive Surgery, Thieme, New York, 2<sup>nd</sup> edn.

Paiva TS and Andre M. (2012) Evaluating aesthetics of the nasolabial region in children with cleft lip and palate: professional analysis and patient satisfaction. *Patient Preference and Adherence*, *6*, 781–787.

Parrini S, Rossini G, Castroflorio T, Fortini A, Deregibus A, Debernardi C. (2016) Laypeople's perceptions of frontal smile esthetics: A systematic review. *American Journal of Orthodontics*, 150(5), 740-750.

Peng RD and Hicks SC. (2021) Reproducible Research: A Retrospective. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 1, 42, 79-93.

Powell N. & Humphreys B. (1984) Proportions of the Aesthetic Face. New York: Thieme.

Quinzi V, Paskacy LC, D'Andrea N, Albani A, Monaco A, Saccomanno S. (2021) Evaluation of the nasolabial angle in orthodontic diagnosis: A systematic review. *Applied Sciences*, 11(6), 2531.

Rasteau S, Sigaux N, Louvrier A, Bouletreau. (2020) Three-dimensional acquisition technologies for facial soft tissues- Application and prospects in orthognathic surgery. *Journal of Stomatology, Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery*, 121(6), 721-728.

Reips UD and Funke F. (2008) Interval-level measurement with visual analogue scales in Internet-based research: VAS Generator. *Behavior Research Methods*, 40, 699–704.

Reis SAB, Abrao J, Claro CAA, Capelozza Filho L. (2011) Evaluation of the determinants of facial profile aesthetics. *Dental Press Journal of Orthodontics*, 16(1), 57-67.

Ricketts R M. (1968) Esthetics, environment, and the law of lip relation, *American Journal of Orthodontics*, 54(4), 272-289.

Rosa M, Olimp A, Fastuca R, Caprioglio A. (2013) Perception of dental professionals and laypeople to altered dental esthetics in cases with congenitally missing maxillary lateral incisors. *Progress in Orthodontics*, 14(34), 2-7.

Russell R. (2009) A sex difference in facial contract and its exaggeration by cosmetics. *Perception*, 38(8), 1211-1219.

Sabih D, Sabih A, Sabih Q, Khan AN. (2011) Image perception and interpretation of abnormalities; can we believe our eyes? Can we do something about it? *Insights imaging*, 2(1), 47-55.

Sari-Rieger A and Rustemeyer J. (2015) Perceptions of pre- to postsurgical profile changes in orthognathic surgery patients and their correlation with photogrammetric changes: a panel study. *Journal of Maxillofacial and Oral Surgery*, 14(3), 765–772.

Sarver, DM. (2001) The face as the determinant of treatment choice. *Craniofacial Growth Series*, 38, 19-54.

Schendel SA and Carlotti AE. (1991) Nasal consideration in Orthognathic Surgery. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*, 100(3), 197-208.

Schwarz N, Knauper B, Hippler HJ, Noelle-Neumann E, Clark F. (1991) Rating scales: Numeric values may change the meaning of scale labels. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, 55(4), 618-630.

Scott P and Huskisson E. (1977) Measurement of functional capacity with visual analogue scales. *Rheumatology and Rehabilitation*, 16(4), 257-9.

Schendel SA, DeLaire I. (1985) Facial muscles: form, function and reconstruction in dentofacial deformities. *In: Bell WH, ed. Surgical Correction of Dentofacial Deformities: New Concepts.* Philadelphia; WB Saunders, 259-315.

Seo HJ and Choi YK. (2021) Current trends in orthognathic surgery. *Archives of Craniofacial Surgery*, 22(6), 287-295.

Salehi P, Azadeh N, Beigi N, Farzin M. (2019) Influence of age on perception of best esthetical profile. *Journal of Dentistry (Shiraz)*, 20(1), 16-23.

Souccar NM and Kau CH. (2012) Methods of Measuring the Three- Dimensional Face. *Seminars in Orthodontics*, 18(3), 187-192.

Stebel A, Desmedt D, Bronkhorst E, Kuijpers MA, Fudalej PS. (2016) Rating nasolabial appearance on three-dimensional images in cleft lip and palate: a comparison with standard photographs. *European Journal of Orthodontics*, 38(2), 197-201.

Stephen ID and McKeegan AM. (2010) Lip colour affects perceived sex typically and attractiveness in human faces. *Perception*, 39(8), 1104-1110.

Storms AS, Vansant L, Shaheen E, Coucke W, Cadenas de Llano-Pe´rula M, Jacobs R, Politis CG. (2017) Willems: Three-dimensional aesthetic assessment of class II patients before and after orthognathic surgery and its association with quantitative surgical changes. *International Journal of Oral Maxillofacial Surgery*, 46(12), 1664–1671.

Stromboli Y. (1979) Facial aesthetics in orthodontic treatment with and without extraction. *European Journal of Orthodontics*, 1(3), 201-206.

112

Sullivan G and Artino Jr AR. (2013) Analysing and interpreting data from Likert-type scales. Journal of Graduate Medical Education, 5(4), 541-542.

Sung Y and Wu J. (2018) The Visual Analogue Scale for Rating, Ranking and Paired-Comparison (VAS-RRP): A new technique for psychological measurement. *Behavior Research Methods*, 50(4), 1694-1715.

Tedesco LA, Albino JE, Cunat JJ, Green LJ, Lewis EA, Slakter MJ. (1983b) A dental–facial attractiveness scale. Part II. Consistency of perception. *American Journal of Orthodontics*, 83(1), 44–46.

Todd SA, Hammond P, Hutton T, Cochrane S, Cunningham S. (2005) Perception of facial aesthetics in two and three dimensions. *European Journal of Orthodontics*, 27(4), 363-369.

Trebicky V, Fialova J, Stella D, Sterbova Z, Kleisner K, Havlicek J. (2018) 360 Degrees of Facial Perception: Congruence in Perception of Frontal Portrait, profile, and Rotation Photographs. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9, 2405.

Turkkahraman H, Gokalp H. (2004) Facial profile preferences among various layers of Turkish population. *Angle Orthodontist*, 74(5), 640–647.

Viswanathan M, Bergen M, Dutta S, Childers T. (1996) Does a single response category in a scale completely capture a response? *Psychology and Marketing*, 13, 457–479.

113

Weng YF, Wong HM, Lin R, Yin G, McGrath CW. (2015) Inter-ethnic/racial facial variation: A systematic review and Bayesian meta-analysis of photogrammetric studies, *PloS ONE*, 10(8), e0134525.

Wewers M and Lowe N. (1990) A critical review of visual analogue scales in the measurement of clinical phenomena. *Research in Nursing and Health*, 13(4), 227-36.

Xiong Z, Jiang Z, Liu K. (2019) Midline Volume Filler Injection for Facial Rejuvenation and Contouring in Asians. Aesthetic Plastic Surgery, 43(6), 1624–1634.

Youn SH, Seo KK. (2016) Filler Rhinoplasty Evaluated by Anthropometric Analysis. *Dermatologic Surgery*, 42, 1071–1081.

Zhu S, Yang Y, Khambay B. (2017) A study to evaluate the reliability of using two-dimensional photographs, three-dimensional images, and stereoscopic projected three-dimensional images for patient assessment. *International Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery*, 46(3), 394-400.

Zumbo BD and Zimmerman DW. (1993) Is the selection of statistical methods governed by level of measurement? *Canadian Psychology*, 34(4), 390-400.

# CHAPTER 8

# APPENDICES

Appendix I



# **Participant Information Sheet**

# The influence of nasolabial angle on perceived facial aesthetics

Version 1.1, 24th November 2020

University of Birmingham Sponsor Reference: Awaiting

Ethics Reference: ERN 20-1332

You can speak to a member of the research team for more information using the details below

You can change your mind about participating in the study at any time; you do not need to give a reason for your decision.

Enquiries & Correspondence:

The Chief Investigator of this study is Professor Balvinder Khambay

If you want to discuss this study further, please call or email

Professor Balvinder Khambay Birmingham Dental Hospital 5 Mill Pool Way Birmingham B5 7EG

#### Thank you for considering volunteering.

We do a lot of research at the University of Birmingham that needs volunteers to look at images of faces. We need all types of volunteers to be able to compare differences between them.

Your decision to participate is completely voluntary. If you decide to withdraw, all identifiable data will be removed from the research data set and will not be analysed. Any data that has already been analysed will not be removed from the data set as it will be anonymised and numerical, and difficult to remove. Just tell either the researcher or email us (see bottom of page). You have 2 weeks are the rating session to

contact the researcher and ask them to remove your data, after this time it will not be possible.

#### Information

#### 1. Introduction

We would like to invite you to take part in a research study. You are free to decide whether or not to take part. Please take time to read the following information carefully.

#### 2. What is the research about?

The purpose of this research project is to assess whether lay adults and professional orthodontists rate the appearance of the nose-upper lip region the same. This is important as orthodontic treatment and facial surgery can change the appearance of this region. It is important to know what would be pleasing appearance to lay adults and is it the same as orthodontists.

#### 3. Why have we been asked?

We are looking for healthy volunteers aged 18 - 65 to assess 3D images of faces.

#### 4. What will happen if I decide to take part?

We want to give you time to consider the information in this leaflet. We will contact you at least one week after you receive the leaflet to see if you wish to take part.

If you decide you would like to participate you will be sent a consent form to sign that you need to return to us, either electronically (emailed, scanned or photographed) or as hard copy via the post. We will then arrange to show you a series of short videos of a 3D facial image and ask you to rate the images using a scale. You maybe contacted around 2 weeks later to repeat the rating of a fewer number of images.

#### 5. What are the advantages of taking part?

You will be helping with research that may lead to better treatment for patients in the future.

#### 6. What are the disadvantages of taking part?

You would need to give up some of your time. There are no known risks to taking part in the study.

#### 7. Has this research been reviewed?

This project has been reviewed and approved by the University of Birmingham's Research Ethics Committee .

#### 8. How can I obtain more information about this study?

You can speak to the researcher when they contact you or if you attend an appointment. Alternatively you can contact the research team using the details on the cover of this information sheet.

### **CONSENT FORM**

Please initial each box you agree with and sign and date the form at the bottom.

		Initials
1	I confirm that I have read the information sheet dated XX September 2020 (version 1) for the above study. I have had the opportunity to consider the information, ask questions and have had these answered satisfactorily.	
2	I have had the opportunity to consider the information, ask questions and have had these answered satisfactorily.	
3	I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time without giving any reason, without my medical care or legal rights being affected.	
4	The data from this research might be useful to future research; by initialling this box you give us permission to use it as part of other ethically approved research projects. These projects may be in collaboration with other institutes outside the university but all the information used will be anonymised by research teams at the University of Birmingham.	
5	I agree to be contacted after around 2 weeks to view the images for a second time.	
6	I agree to take part in the above study.	

Your name

Signed

Date

I have discussed this study with this participant who has agreed to give informed consent.

Name of person taking consent

Signed

Date

## Appendix II

## Please mark X on one outcome for each image as numbered

Imag e Num ber	Extreme ly Unattrac tive	Very Unattrac tive	Slightly Unattrac tive	Neither Attractiv e nor Unattrac tive	Slightl y Attrac tive	Very Attrac tive	Extre mely Attract ive	Would you consider seeking treatme nt if this represen ted your own appeara nce?
lmag e 1								Yes / No
Imag e 2								Yes / No
Imag e 3								Yes / No
Imag e 4								Yes / No
Imag e 5								Yes / No
Imag e 6								Yes / No
lmag e 7								Yes / No
Imag e 8								Yes / No
Imag e 9								Yes / No
lmag e 10								Yes / No

Imag e Num ber	Extreme ly Unattrac tive	Very Unattrac tive	Slightly Unattrac tive	Neither Attractiv e nor Unattrac tive	Slightl Y Attrac tive	Very Attrac tive	Extre mely Attract ive	Would you consider seeking treatme nt if this represen ted your own appeara nce?
lmag e 11								Yes / No
lmag e 12								Yes / No
lmag e 13								Yes / No
lmag e 14								Yes / No
lmag e 15								Yes / No
lmag e 16								Yes / No
lmag e 17								Yes / No
lmag e 18								Yes / No
lmag e 19								Yes / No
Imag e 20								Yes / No

Imag e Num ber	Extreme ly Unattrac tive	Very Unattrac tive	Slightly Unattrac tive	Neither Attractiv e nor Unattrac tive	Slightl y Attrac tive	Very Attrac tive	Extre mely Attract ive	Would you consider seeking treatme nt if this represen ted your own appeara nce?
Imag								Ves / No
e 21								
Imag e 22								Yes / No
Imag e 23								Yes / No
Imag e 24								Yes / No
lmag e 25								Yes / No
lmag e 26								Yes / No
lmag e 27								Yes / No
lmag e 28								Yes / No

Please tick the type of image you found easier to rate?

2D silhouette profile

3D non textured (grey)

**3D textured**